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COURT OF. GENERAL SESSIONS O' THE PEACE 

IN AND 'OR THE gown OF NEW YORK 

.1jART MEE. 

New York, Tuesday March 4th, Int* 

THE DEPENDANT IS INDICTED FOR ASSAULT IN THE FIRM An 

'SECOND "DEGREMS. 

INDICTMENT FILED February 7th, 1913. 

(A jury Ls duly impaneled and erorn). 

(By order of the Court all witnesses are exolude 



as a witness on  ,behalf of the 

estified asfollows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MI. 

Q What is your name? A Harry Salkin. 

Q Where do you live? A 313. South Fifth Street • Brook-

Q What is your business? A Manager of a moving picture 

Whose moving picture place is that? A 

Q, And where is it? A 301 Grand Street Brooklyn. 

Q Arid on the 8th of December last were y u in the County 

of New York? A Yes 

A I was over o:visit some friends 

Where were you after seven? 

store on Broome Street. 

Q And then, after that, where di 

to the corner of Orchard and Bro-ome. 

Q Who was with you at that. time? 

What time lagt.13 that? A Half pa's 

Were you talking to Sam. Shapiro and 

n a delicatessen 



• Who? A 3fax Ostransky.• 

This defendant? A -Yes, 

Where did he come from? .A Come from Orchard street. 

4 What side of the street were you on? 

Was it the uptown corner? A Uptown Cotner. 

Q And it was near Allen Street; that 

is near Allen Street?A. Yes, sir. 

That i 82 you were on the nOrthWes 

That corner 

,he corner that 

corner of Broome 

Q And the defendant, Ostransky, 

in your direction? A Yes, 

• Was 'there anything the matter with him 

He had a bandage on his face 

He had a bandage on his face? 

Did anybody say anything to him that 

Who spoke to him? A A young lady. 

Somebody patising by? A Ye. sir. 

What did she say to hire) 

matter with your face, MWVP/. and he says "my ir1 

Of course, I turned my backi 

didn't want to 



Did. anybody else do the same? 

What happened to the girl at that 'time? 

on walking. 

Who else turned his back at the defendant? 

A I don't know about that, . 
with you 

Was Charles Shapiro and Sam Shapiro and OstranskY 

on the corner at that moment? A .Ye 

(1 At that moment, -wasanybodY.else near b 

People -pas-sing by .and a few fellows around 

The minute you turned your buck was anybody• within -

ten or fifteen feet af you? A I didn't notice that. 

Q When your back was turned, what happened to you? 

•heard the report 

the first one; the second one I fell unconsq.ous., 

Where were you struck? A In 'th back 
V 

one up here, in the arm (indicating). 

Indicate at your back where this was? 

the bullet hole yet there (indicating). 

MR. MEDAIIE: The lower part of the left side 

back, at about a little above the waiSt line. 



The other on the back of the left aria Mi away :between. the 

elbow and the shoulder joint.. 

TIM FOREMAN OF THE JURY:the ho'e Is that it where 

MR. MEDALIE: Yes. About three-quarters of 

fr cm the elbow to .the shoulder joint,in the back 

And the coat you now wear is the gotiIt you wore when you 

shoulder of your left arm is the place where you were shot? 

And 'the hole in the back of your coat above your 

waist, on the left side, is also the hole where you wee shot 

presume you were taken to the hospital? 

(1 And you were treated there? A Yes, six,. 

with you about a ball? A I promised to be up 

we were on good terms at that time. 

That is about all he 



wha,•4 was that ball'? A It was run by. he.Young 

Sharkey Association. 

Q Who is Young Sharkey? A, .A fellow they Call Max Ostran-

Q, You have known him also under that name? A •YeEi s r. 

Q, And that is the association which ran. the ball? 

A Yes, sir, 

Q Do you know whether there is such an association?,A That 

don't know. 

He asked you to attend his ball? 

Q And he referred to the ball of the Young'Sharkey• 

Association? A Yes, sir. 

Q That ball was given where? A At Manhattan 

Q, _Where is that? A Grand corner of Allen., 

Q And how long before. the shooting was that ball given" 

A About three weeks before the shooting. 

Q, You did not attend it? A No sir, , 

Q, You were on good terms with him until the ball, weren't 

you? A After the ball, too, we werespeaking. together, miing 

good times together, drinking together. 

Q, Did he ever speak to you about not going, to,the ball 

A He says, 'That is the difference if you didn't come up.? 

know you didn't have the price to come up to attend the ball 



'turned your back to him? A. Ten feet. away. 

Q He was facing you before you turned your _back? A Yes, 

Q How many persons were near you. at the time. you -

turned

 

your back to the  defendant? :A there Wei',e. people -114430i:rig 

by, and quite a few fellows standing around the 

Who were the fellows? A I don't know their", Max 

'Ostransky was standing in back: of MB. 

Q Max Ostransky was in back of you? A' .Yesi. 

Shapiro Was .standing about two 

Q And the woman? A The girl -kept. On..:waIking.. 

asked him, "What is the matter with your . face?" and he said 

"my girl kissed me". She kept on:walking. 

.q How' soon after you turned your back to the defendant 

were you shot? A About two or three minutes: 4ater. As so 

as I turned my 'back and I smiled, then I- Itr..40 

You don't mean to say that that .took tita or three ml 

TIi1 COURT: Gentlemen of the_ Jury counsel for the. 

defendant has an actual engagement before the Appellate 

Division of the Second Department -and-under the rules he 

is entitled to an adjournment. It is a good, 'legal and suf-, 



ficient excuse, - We shall 

case until two o'clock. Do n 

yourselves, nor, permit any person 

it, nor form nor express any opinion 

innocence of .the defendant until 

submitted to you. It is importan gentlemen, 

Court's admonition should be Observed for if you discuss 

the case before you heard all of the evidence then you  

make up your minds either one. 'way or the-Other, and it 

unfair both to the People and to the defendart .I: :an 

:body talks to you about the case, it is taking evideng.e.' 

out of court, and I shall be obliged. if anything like that 

happens, to set aside your action;: t nothing inter-

fere with a proper discharge of.duty, and it is. not a Proper 

discharge of duty where a juror violates the Court' in-

structions, This admonition is saci*ed and must b Strict-

ly observed. We will take a recessuntil 2 clock. 

(The Court accordingly took a recess unti.l.2 :PM ). 

AFTER RIECES.S 

HARRY SALKIN, resumes the stand 

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY R. ROSENBERG't 

of age. 

How old a man are you? 

And you live with your amp.y? 

In Brooklyn? A Ye sir. 

9 years 

Yes, sir. 



Do you belong to any gang? A sir,. 

.Did you. come over to Orchard and Broome Street that 

UP some 

A No, sir. 

Q Do you know of any gang fight that vas on that night? 

sir. 

Were you to be in a gang fight that night' A No sir. 

Your meeting with the defendant on that night was purely 

accidental, wasn't it? A No, sir. 

Q Was it an accident that you met 'him? A, No, sir. 

Q Did you intend to meet him that night? A Well, 

I always met him. Whenever I pass that corner I alwaYs m 

hint there. 

(1 That is, you two met, but. you .had no appointment to 

meet him? A No, sir. 

(4, On thiS particular day, you had no particular 

arrangement to meet the defendant on the corner of Broome and 

Orchard Street that day, 41 you? A I met him. unexpectedly. 

(I What? A I only happened to pass. 

Q• You only happened to pass?. A Yes, sir. 

Q You did not haVe any prearrangenient- about pasdng the • 



on that hour of the night when you were s o yoU had no ar-

rangement to pass there that night,did, y A sir. 

it was a purely accidental meeting, so far as you 

know? A Yes', sir. 

Q You did not t 1]. anybody you were going to pass' that 

corner on that night did. you'? A No sir. 

(4, There had, you been just before going to Orchard and  

Broome Street'? A On Broome near Orchard and Allen. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q What time? A At -seven o'clock. 

BY MR. ROSEMIERG: 

Q You were there about_half _an hour? A About half an 

Did you- meet anyone there that you knew? A I happened' 

to pass there, and I met Charles Shapiro and axa •Shapiro, and 

they asked me to come in and have a bite with them. 

ct And you went in the delicatesSen stoie? 

A Yes., sir. --

Q And had a little meal? A Yes, sir. 

Qi That is, Charlie Shapiro, am Shapiro an a. young lady? 

A No, no young lady in his, This 'girl happened to pass the ti 

I was shot, before I ma shot.. 

So your meeting with the young lady was a pure dent? 

Az Accident. 



Is the matter with your face?" .says, "My girl kissed me 

Of course I smiled" at him and I turned- around: 

Q That was at the northwest corner f Orchard and Broome? 

The northwest corner? A Y 

Q Were you on the block between Orchard and Ludlow 

the block between Orchard and Allen Street? A On the corner 

it is in the centre of the street. 

I know that, but were you on Broome Street between ' 

Orchard and Ludlow, or between 1.8 it on Broome Street be-

tween Orchard and Allen Street? A This was right at the 

right toward Ludlow Street side. 

THE COURT: That is the northwest corner. 

• Sure it was not on .the Allen Street side? A 

Allen Street? A Here iswhere 

town side of Orchard, Street, 

Q Is the delicatessen store 'betweer 



0.0••••••-. 

or between Allen and_ Orchard,? A 

the delicatessen store*. 

ure of that? A Yes, sir. 

Q !here did you intend going when you left the 

'Between Allen and Orcha 

sen store? A I intended to go to Madison and Clinton 

my lady friend. 

So, you were in the direction of the East River? A  Yes, 

Then you crossed Orchard Street? r.. 

You crossed Orchard Street and got on to the other 

side of Broome Street and Orchards A Yes, sir. 

So that, you were 'on the .northwest corner 

and Broome? A Yes, sir, 

And there you say you saw the defendant? A Yes, sir. 

Isn't that right? A Yes, sir. 

At half past seven at night on that particular 

was pretty crowded wasn't it? A Yes sir. 

Isn't that right? A Yes, sir. 

9, That is, the people on that block 'do business onSunday? 

A 'The' passers by. 

And the sidewalk is pretty well crowded with people going 

one way and the other way, going in, both directions, isn't that 

right? A I didn't notice that. I noticed the people passing by; 

Were there a of people passing by? A Well, I c 

exactly tell you. 



And you paid no special attention 

A Yes, sir. 

rtt 

notice that 

4 Didn't notice? A 

4 You knew,. .however, 

past at the time? A Yes, s 

here were a nwnbe of people going 

ir 

to t, is that right? 

You didn't pay any attention to them? 

no attention to them. 

(I Nothing unusual attracted yOur attention? A 0.  •  

_4 At the time you met the defendant,were you friendly 

with -him? A Yes, sir, but I had less do with him because 

q Were you friendly with. hi 

MR. •MIOALIE: Let him finish. 

A (Continuing) f had less to do with him, because 

appointed him to his racket. 

- 4 There was a ball whiCh took plate 

is that right? A Yes, sir, 

4 Of the Sharkey Association? A I.dô.nt know 

was in November. 

ell, when was 'it? Al don't remember the date. 

How long before December 8th was it? A can't ex-
_ 

actly tell you what date it was. 

Can you give the jury some idea? A It might hare been 



4101 

two or three weeks before. 

q May it not have been six weeks before?- A I can't 

tell you. 

Q There vas supposed to be a ball which was known as the 

Young Sharkey Association? A Yes,sir. 

Q. And how much were the tickets? .A Fifty cents ad-

mission. 

Q, Fifty cents, which indluded lady and gentleman? 

A yes, sir. 

CI Including hat check.) A Yes sir. 

Q, Sometime before the ball„ the defendant asked you  o buy 

a ticket? A He didn't ask me to buy no ticket, He said 

he expected me up as a friend. 

Q, He merely asked, "are you coming to the bail?"? 

Yes, ,sir, 

Q There was no quarrel at the time  Ito best of 

friends. 

ve merely said to you 'bare you coming up to the-ball?"? 

A yes sir. 

Q Is that right? A Yes, 

Q.

 

.And that was before the ball? A It was the night be-

fore Saturday night he -told me that, 

Q, -Fre merely in and offhand, way. said, "are you oomin 

the ball?"? A Yes, -sir. 

Q, And what did you say 2aid, "of course, You 



are a friend of mine". 

Q Of course, sure" that right? A Yes,sir. 

q Prom that time until ou met him on Broome and. Orchard 

Street, did ,you see him A yes, sir. 

N'Illsrs? A I met him Sunday afternoon, about five 0' 

clock, I think it was, or after five; he was standing there. 

The night of the ball I am talking about? A 

talking of the day I was shot. 

q What? A The very day I was shot. 

(1 And from the time that he offered tickets- of- the ball 

until the day you-were nhot, you had not seen hi A Yes 

seen him; we had a conversation. 

BY THE COURT: 

41 You saw him at five o'clock Sunday afternoon A Yes ,sir  

BY MR. ROSENBERG: 

qI mean from the time of the offer of the ticket,until 

the day you were shot you had not seen OT poken the de-

fendant? A Yes, I spoke to him. 

Q When? A Before that, right along. 

Q .Right along? A yes sir. 

Q There was no quarrel between you, was there? A No 

quarrel. ve told um' all about the racket.. He said, know 

you couldn't come over; you didn't have the price." 

Q, Did you quarrel with him about not 'going to the racket? 

A No sir. 



You, did. not quarrel with him? A 

Qi You were just friendly after the ball. as before 

ball? A We had drinks together, 

After the ball.? A After the. ball. 

Q No quarrel at all? A No quarrel at al 

Q What occurred on Sunday afternoon at five cp• clock vhen 

the defendant? A we had a drink together 

and I left him, and I went toward Allen Street and met,. 

another .friend of mini. I come back about seven o'clock, and 

I met Charles _Shapiro and Sam Shapiro, and We ate together. 

Q No, at five clock what occurred?A "re had. a drink 

together at Orchard and Broome 

4,- Who constituted the party? A .0 , course, I ha about 

nalf a dollar in my clothes. 

Q How many were in the party? A Only me and h1i,. only. 

Did you have any cluarrel with him a 

You had a friendly drink together? 

And you parted friendly? A 

Sure of that? A yes, sir* 

Didyou see any pistol on the defe 



CZ, Did you ever see him with a pi 4.01 in his hand 

at no time did you ever see .1ith 

a pistol in his hand? A No 

Q, When You met the defendant at the tame, or Just be-

fore you were shot, you were 'making in the direction of Ludlow 

Street, on the south side of Brooms Stre 

Q Is that right? A Yes sir. 

Q, Is that right You were walking towards Ludlow Street. 

or towards Clinton Street, and. on the downtown side of Broome - 

Street? A .Yes, sir. 

Q Isn't that right? A y _ . 

thiz defendan 

A He was coming 1.113 

ide down. 

he was c oming from 

BrOome? A And stopped at the corner of Br 

been on the other side of Broome Street 

north side of Broome Street? A 



But that Ni!aa .on Orchard•:.Stree.t?. 

LI. That Orchard Street -round. north and. south  

Broote•Street- runs east and west? 

Q It that right? A Yes. 

Q So that,- when you were coming down Broome Street 

wards Ludtow Street the defendant. vas corning -.south between 

on Orchard Street between DeLanoey and Brooms t that right? 

A .Yes Sir. 

Q Now, how many feet sepaiated you when•yoU saw the 

defendant over on Orchard Street coming dOwn:between Pellancey 

and Broome? A. I was about to 1eave.ty friendS Charles Sha7 

pixo and Sam Shapiro, and finally 

,q When ,,sou first saw the defendant coting on Orchard 

Street., A When he come down he atop d at the curb', and I. 

-kept on walking; I was going to leave my friends; I was 

supposed to go down and Meet my girl. 

Q You continued to walk on the south side of Broome  Street 

toward Ludlow; ,you continued to walk? •A -Yes, sir. 

And the defendant was then back of you, wasn't he? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q, And you were not. lookin 'back =of you were..you? 

seen him standing there after I ,had the conversation. 

Q He, was talking? A Yes, sir 

e ople Q, When he was talking) wasn t there a great many p 



between the defendant 414 you? A Yes_, sir. 

And a great many people passing byf 

Q, now many people were passing by at the 

alcactly tell you. 

Q, Can.you give the jury any idea? A 

a few people pass up and down all the while, :a d there was 

many? A About three or four standing together. 

you know a,ny of them? A Ro, sir. 

you ever have any words with those persons. 

standing? A They were standing v 

room e Street sides 

corner of Broome, 

Was the defendant talking to those people? A 

he was about four or five feet away from them. 



always People talking on that 

CI, And there was nothing unusual on. that 

So, on this particular night, how many groups of feUows 

did you see standing talking together? A A 11 I saw Was the 

three or four standing together. The rest was walking past.: 

That iz about all I noticed. 

Do you know who those fellows were? 

A You don't know whether you saw them 

they looked strange to me. 

Q They were strangers to you;. you have a great many 

friends around. the East Side, haven't you? -A :Virel.4.4 I have got 

• Q, And, like every young fello1.7, you have enemies, haven't 

YOU? A I havenat enemies, I always make friends with every-A 

You try to make friendst but in making friends you 

enemies, dodn!t you? A As far as this is concerned, 



Q: Have you now told. the Judge and jury ythng•that 

you can remember? A .Yes 

Sure of that?  A Yes, sir. 

-Q You told the Judge, in answerthe queStion after the 

talk between you and the defendant, between the defendant and 

the young lady, about two or three minutes elapsed: between. 

time that the talk was had with the defendant And theshooting; 

is that about right? A yes, 

Q It-may have been five minutes; May it. nt?. A 

the time .I was shot At took t lree minutes, before 

minutes. A Y 

Q About three minutes? A Yes., sir. 

You did not look back to See where the defendan 

after you talked to the young lady, did you? 

Q Did be walk away? ,A I didn'tnoticehimwalk away. 

You don't know what happened between the three minutes 

.after the talk with the young lady, do you? Al turned around 

to see that happened. I saw the girl starting to walk, arci he 

turned around. I turned my back and started to smile. 
she 

Wasn't he walking with the girl? A lib,/kept walkin 



straight down Broome Street. 

The girl kept walking on toward A1lei Stre 

Broome Street, toward Ludlow. 

1s that the same direction you were going?  

A And you kept on walking in, that direc 

going to .valk in that direction. 

(1. But you did not look back .to sees what .was -going On 

ion? A was 

the corner after the talk between the girl and the 

A I seen him standing there, aid I turned back an 

Q You didn't look back to the corner? 

(1 And you don't know where the deferidant was 

defendant? 

d started 

during those 

Q' And you' don't know whether he was on:the corner 6r 

do you? A About that I don't know.. 

Q, So that, at the time yon were shot, you -don't know 

the defendant was? A Yee, eir4 

Q, You don't, do you  A.I don't know. 

never had any fight with the defendan 

sir, I was on good terms with him. 

Now, then, you were taken to the hospital. 



over to -the hospital? A Yes, sir. 

u t 11 the policeman In 

• defendant, that he was notthe man who shot 

him I don't know who shot me. 

Q Didn't you say • lie .did not shoot yo 

I said I don't know who done it because 

Ci How many hours after the shooti g? A The -officer - 

came up at twelve o'clock sharp. 

And he brought with him the defendant? A Max Ostransky 

And you knew the defelid.an.t? A Yes, sire 

Q You were awake? A Yes, sir. 

Q You understood what you were doing? A Y 

Q, And didn't the officer say, "Did the defendant shoot 

you9t, and didn't you say, "no" A , They told me that Charles 

Q Didn't the officer ask you on that night at the hosplt 

"Did this man", meaning the defendant, "shoot  you? and .didn 

you bay, "no, he did not shoot .me"? A r I said that. 

Q And when was it that you went io• eourt? A 7About 



RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, MEDAIZE: 

Q, When they brought Ostranr_ to your bedside in the 

hospital are you sure you said no, that he did not shoot you? 

A Well, when they brought him up, I says, "1 don't know Who shot, 

me", I told the officer right off the .reel. 

Q, But you didn t say, "No") did you? A 

q You did not say, "No"? t know who 

shot me", I told the officer. 

fendant to your bedside in the hospital and aSked.you whether 

the defendant was not the man who shot. you, you simply 

turned over on your side and tUrned-yout-back:to him and said 

"We will see tomorrow"? A I didn't say nothing o-f. the 

ver said tha 

know who shot me 



BY MR. IVIEDALI 

Q How much of what I asked you did take place? A 

know is I had paul, d the officer woke me up. 1 w as laying 

my face down on the p.11ow, nd he says to me "Get up, Is that 

the fellow that shot you  Is that the fellow they call Young 

Sharkey, who shot you?". I said, "1 don't know; I . don't know 

who shot me; I know he was standing on the corner before I was 

you were shot just a 

to the defendant? A It took time before 

u turned your bexk 

(4, How do you ax the time as three minutes? A Becailse 

I turned around to see 'if he was ,there. The girl kept on 

walking, and I stood there for about three minutes. 

an oath are tell the truth? AYests r. 

Prom the time that you 'turned around when you 

the defendant when you turned around did you not? IA Yes, 

Q, How far away was the girl from your sight at the 

you were shot? A I just seen the girl going; she kept 

was she from your view at the time you were 

shot' A I didn't notice that at all •I know before I 'was 



Bight and one-half seconds. 

-be three minutes, and in making 

hands)? A About now. 

cr. when you,turried around, 

and one-half seconds you -were shot? A Yes, sir, 

tJae first bullet penetrated Your body, 

fell to the floor. 

at direction did y 

Sam.Shapiro, and I got the other:ono-I-R.-the arm. 

Q, You remember being struck in the arm? 4 

Did you see the defen-dan0 A No, sir.: 

Were you unconscious when you Were 

six;- they took me in the drug Store an 

thing to drink, and I was up, 

RE-CROSS-EXAMINAMON BY /M. ROSENBERG. 

(1 The Judge figures out the time Of eight and one-half 

seconds between what you considersitting on the witness 

stand, as being the time that you thought elased. I ask you 

now how long a time elased between the -time when you last saw 



'7 

the defendant and the time that you were shot on the evening 

n question? 

MR. MgDALIE: I object to the question, on the ground 

it has been answered and in view Of the test already made 

by your Honor. 

MR. ROSENBERG: Your Hanor,that test,you know as well 

as I do, there is not a witness in this court who could sit 

in that chair and subject himself to the same test that 

your Honor made who would not make the same kind of answer. 

THE COURT: Counsel's remarks will be disregarded, 

• 
gentlemen, and, you will give them no weight whatsoever. 

.They should nOt be made. I allow the question. 

MR, ROSENBERG: Strike out the question. 

A The Judge figured out it was eight and one-half seconds,• 

as you now state., while sitting On the witness-chair, between 

the time that you saw the defendant last saw the defenda nt 

and the time you were shot. I ask you now how 1o.ng a time 

elapsed between the time that you saw the defendant an the ccener' 

or Broome and Orchard Street on the day that. you were sh9t un-

til you were shot? How many minutes elapsed, or haw -much time 

elapsed? A From the time the girl asked him what Was the matter 

with his face, that is about all I know. 

Q How much time do you tell the jury between the time that 

you last saw the defendant at the corner and the time that you 

were shot? A I figured it.about three miiutes, three or five 

• 



' 

minutes before I was shot. 

R. ROSENBERG: That is all. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q. 1ow, ' in view of your testimony now; and that which You 

stated in  answer to one of my questions1 that eight and one-half 

seconds elapsed between the time. that you turned arou4d and the' 

time you were shot, which is it? A I figured it would be about 

three minutes, I figured it. 

Q .You know how many secfnds make a minute,, do you not? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Now, I will put this test to you. Proceed now Maps 

hands). Now, I will tell you when three minutes are up, and I 

want to know whether it took, that length Of time' A It took 

quite a time. 

Q .Now, wait. I will tell yoU when the :threelainUtes 

are up. Now, we have just 1.eachedPne.minUte/ A It is 

a long minute. 

Q Two minutes. A I think it:Waa.abbut, two minutesl: 

if I ain't mistaken. 

.Now, is it not truelthat, as soon as you turned around, 

your back being turned toward this defendant, you immediately 

felt a bullet, the effect of a bullet it: y'eUrbaelc? 

can't exactly tell you how lOng. it took me, but I know it mue 

quite a little while after. 

Q, How do you fix three minutes? Oh, I _tan, 



yre. 

Q. Are you not guessing. A 

was shot;.it.todk about three minutes* 

Q _ Is it not true that.._within..a few seconds of yOur turning 

about you were Shot? A 'It took quite a little time, I can't 

exactly tell you how long it took. 

Q Now, did it not take less than a mdnute9 

that;.I can't tell you, It seemed tome a 

minutes* 

BY MEDALIE: 

Q You remember that you were n-py office yestetday . . 

afternoon? A Yes, sir*• 

Q And, you were telling me what you knew about the case?: 

A. Yes, sir* 

Q Don't you. remember that you toldMeyesterday'after 

noon that dust as you turned around you were shot, and that you 

curled up and went dawn on the .ground? ' 

MR.' ROSENBERG: Objected to.aa hearsay* 

THE COURT: Objection overruled* This question 
directed 

0.oprmkttwai by the District Attorney With. 4 view to refreshing 

the recollection of the witness; is that correct? 

MR. MEDALIE: That is my purpose* 

THE COURT: And on the:authority of the People vs. 

Kelly, 113 New York, I will allow it. 

MR. ROSENBERG: Exc.eptioflto that ruling. 

A I told you, as I. turned around - 

BY THE COURT: 



did you tell that to the District ',Attorney? A I 
said I had a short smile first and btandin there a teyr moments 

or so, and I was shot; I curled up and, fell to the flOor, 

held On to my friend, and fell to the floor. 

BY MR. MEDALIE: 

Q, Weren't you smiling at the joke,or what you thought, 

was a joke', at the time you were al-4.ot4' A Yes, sir. 

Q, Isn't it a fact, then, that the Smile was Still on yoit 

face when you were shot? • , 

TM. ROSENBERG: }tow does he 'know, your Honor? 

THE COURT: I overrule your objection. Now, make no 

suggestions, Mr. Rosenberg. 

MR. ROSE11-B.0G: I obj ect, on the ground, it ± s self-

evidentthat the witness could not tell., 

THE COURT: I overrule your objection. 

ROSETIBMG: I take an exception'. 

A I can't remember at the time I Was shot, I Was smiling. 

Q, You won't say you were not? _A- I won't say I was, 

or was not. As soon as I turned around I wanted to -Smile. 

• didn't wait to smile in his faoe I. tUrned around and smiled, 

and I stood there a few moments; I don't remember how long, 

"and then I know I was shot. 

Q, You had your back turned to him for only one reason, a 

. that reastnwas you were smiling at what you considered a joke 

at his expense? A Yes sir. 

• Q You did. not want him to aee a, smi on your face at ths, 



You did not want to give.him offenpe? A Yes 

Q And as soon as that smile passed off your face, 

was no longer any reason why you should not turn around and 

face him; isn't that so? A I stood there:, and I_ was About 

leave my friends, and Charles Shapiro sidestepped: me, and I 

Q- That girl did not walk vOrY--far while:yourbadk 

turned to the defendant, did anel A I turned,ardund't 

where the giriwas. She kept .on walking, 

She did not walk very far until the mOment you 

A I don't know tbat* 

You were watching her, turned around 

Q Add just as you turned, around to see if she was therer 

you saw she was not there, and you were shot? 

started to think of the joke, when he said.h s girl kissed 

Q At the time that you saw the defpndan 

did he have any bandage on his face'? A Yes, 

Do you know how he came to have his face bandaged? 



HE COURT: "Objection sustaineda 

Isn't it w.fact that the reasonW v you refused to 

make any identification in the hospital A No sir. 

(continuing) was because you wished to. tare revenge 

in your own way? A No; sir, 

(1, And isn't it a fact that for that very .reason, you are 

withAolding your testimony now? Isn't that a,fact? 4 That 

is no reason why I should hold back. 

hospital to the detectives; when they asked you about the d 

fendant having done the shooting, you said; "We will see o 

morrow"? A I never said nothing of the kind. I told them 

I don't know who done the shooting; r don't know who; I had 

my back turned at that time. 

Q Now, didn't you tell me yesterday in my Offiae that the 

defendant was the only person near you at the time the shooting 

occurred? 

MR. ROSENBERG: One moment. object to7 that as i 

competent irrelevant and immaterial. 

THE COURT: Is this question asked for the purpose 

of refreshing the witness' recollection 

MR. MEDALIE: That is the only purpose. 

THE COURT: The objection is overruled. 

MR. ROSENBERG: I take an exception., 



I was out An the glitter, about tep feet, aWaY from him, and a 

little further away was a group of fellows three or four fel-: 

Didn't you, tell me ,he was the only person there? 

About ten feet in back of me. 

MR. ROSENEERG: T ask the same objection be noted. 

THE OOUBT: Objection overruled. 

ROSENBER.G: I take an exceptiOn. 

Dim144--ou-remember you told me he was the only person• 

,(Same obj ecti on; 'exception). 

A He was standing there and near the curb was the. other 

fellows stan ding. , 

Q You did not tell me that yesterda,y? A You 'asked me 

who was ,standing in back of me. I told you that this fellow 

was 'Standing in back of me. 

BY 9:1IE COURT: 

q bid you mention the fact that there were three men 

standing nearby? A No, air, he only asked me who was stand-

BY 1AR. MAUR: 
q. Didn't :.I ask you who was standing between or near you 

or who was on the street nearby9* X t that what I asked you? 

Same objection; same ruling;• .ex 



A I don't know that, You only asked me whO Vag 

back of me, that is about all I remember, 

cl You are sure there was no person back of you except the 

defendant? A Yes, sir, 

Q And you were shot in the back? A Yes sir, 

-BY MR. ROSENBERG: 

S Arlan g 

Q Are you sure there vas no persOn back f you except•ing 

the defendant? A There was a group- of fellows standing at the 

curb, 

• Q Were there people passing by: A Yes* sir.. 

Q, were there people between you and the defendant just 

before, you were shot? A I don't know; I didn't notice that, 

because I had my back turned. 

Q, While you had your face to the defendant* were there 

people between you? A Yes, sir. 

And  there were people on the corner? A 711:riciug up 

and down 7 

Q Were there men standing on 'the corner* in groups?  

A Y,esi_sir, 

MR. ROSENBERG: That is 14 

.1.1.1111.44.1.1.i.tfor 

SAMUEL S H AP I R 0* ealaed as a witness -on behalf, 

of the •People, being first duly sworn* testified a.s follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. MEDALIE: • 

Q What is your full name t SamuelShapiro, 



Q; What Is your business.? A, House-Painting*, 

Do you remeMber the 8th of December last? A Yes 

Do  you remember' being at the -corner of Broome and 

Orchard Streets, in the County of Ne 

• Q Now, that was a Sunday, 

Q, Were you in the company of the complaining witness, 

Harry Salkin, on that day? • 

Who else was with him? 

Charles Shapiro is your brother? 

(I Had you seen the- defendant, that day? 

Q What time in the evening was it that you saw the 

fenda nt at that corner? A 7:30. 

Q, At half past seven? A Yes, .sir,• 

brother, Charles Shapiro; 

Q Harry Salkin, and Charles with you? A Yes 



corner. 

Q North, or south? Uptown, or downtown? A Uptown side. , , . 

Q You were standing at the northwest corner orlirCvale 

A j3roome and Orchard, 

(1, The northwest corner of Broome an.A. Orchard Street at that  

time? A Yes sir. 

walking. 
cl You and Charles Shapiro and Harry Salkin ±ghx 

Where did the defendant came from when you first saw him.? 

A Come out from the saloon. 

Is there a saloon on that corner A Yes,sir.. 

Q From Which entrance of the saloon d d.'he 0.01ne e 

,Orchard Street or the-Br-I:mime Street entrance? A Orchard Street 

Did he come over to you and yuur friends?L A / 

passed us .by. 

ct Did he say anything to either of you as.he passed -by? 

A No, nothing. -

What was his condition when he. passed by? A_ He had -a 

bandaged face, 

Q How far away from you was he when' soebody first spoke 

to him., A Six or seven 4way. 



And who spoke t 

He was going. south was he., 

That IS1 toward the. river 

You and 8alkin were six or seven 

te was going 'ea0t.-

TOward the river, es 

away from hiM d.t t -

that time? IL yeso 

was.-this young woman going in an opposite 

from the one an whth the defendant was going, 

think so. She come through from east to west 

(4, She came through Broome Stree 

A Nol. we were on the same 

You were all on the same sidawalk? 

You, Harry Salkin, Charles 8114pir4 

woman were on the same corneri on the sidewalk? 

We were on the gutter and they 'were on 

Q You and your two companions were 

Q And they were six or seven feet away rr 

sidewalk, at that corner, 

witter with your face?". 



face bandaged, 

Q Her words_ not your words, ',How did she 'addrese him? 

That are the exact .words she said to him A She said, 

actly what she said. 

Q Now, sto; and think. You told me .yesterday what was 

said. Now, stop and think. Now, what was said by both of 

them? A She asked, "What is the Matter with your face?", 

and he said "A girl kissed me", or so; that was the talk, the 

conversation they had. 

Q You heard those words a A Yes, sir. 

Q, What did you do at that time and what did. Salk in do a 

that time? A He turned around and. started to laugh. 

Q You had your backs turned to Ostransky A Yes, 

.Q How long •after that before anything happened? A .A few 

moments. 

A few moments? A Yes, sir, 

(4, You mean, Et few seconds? A About a minute or s 

two minutes. 

Q, You did not laugh out loud, did you, didn t 

laugh loud. 

Q, You just smiled, isn t that. all?- A Yes, 

Q, You had not moved from the spot before art 

pened; isn't that so, A No, only turned around* 



3 

just enough to turn around and no More, before any.. 

thing happeried A We turned around; we had aohance to speak 

each one to the other, "It is 4 nice kiss 

Q, That is all that was said '•  A f w more words. It took 

about a minute or two. 

It took a ve:cy shOrt time?- A short•time, yes. 

And then what happened? A Then I heard three shots* 

You heard three shots? A Yes. 

Did you turn around? A I did. 

That did you see? A I seen .Sharkey 

. Q Who was  Sharkey? Who do you mean" A fax • 0 s trans 

The defendant? A Yes, sir. 

Q That was .he doing? A e .Was running. 
— 

Q, ite was running with his beta turned to you? -A 'Yes 

How far way was the defendant you first turned 

around and saw him running? A. No. more than 1am -from you. 

ct That is, no more than ten feet? A Y 

Q In other words, he was six or seven feet away from -

you when your  back was turned to him and. the Minute you turned 

around, when you heard the shots b.e wail only about :three feet 

further away from you than that? A Yes sir. 

Q And where did he run? A He run the same places he 

come out the back entrance of the saloon, 

Q Now, did anything happen to anybody at that time? A. S 

was shot in the back, and my younger' brothe was milpt in 



belly,. and I had to take Salkin into the drug storé 

Q You took Salkin into the drug store because 1Wwasisehot? 

A- Yea, sir. 

Q,- You14.brother, who was standing near by, s he facing 

the defendantc .A Yes, sir, 

And he was shot in the abdomen, .in the stomaar A Yes, 

Q And try to catch him? NO. 

Q was anybody else at that very corner at that time9 

A Then two fellows came out together., 

Q Before anybody came out? 

.Q At the time your brother and Salkin were shot by the 

way, they were both shot at the same t they? A Yee, 

fired as though from one pistol? 

in tant or were they neparated 



Q One after the other? A Yes, 

ct. And they all occurred:within a second, didn't 

Yes, at the .me time, 
and 

Q And you turned around Boat immediately,/saw the 

-running with his back to you, but not more 

(1 At the time you turned your back on •the defendant 

near by, on the very corner? 

• you would have seen himm A I think so, , 

Q You went immediately and made a complaint t 

there any doubt in your mind that this defendant was 

Who was running away As you turned around , when the 

• 11R ROSENBERG:. One moment. 

TIrE COURT: The Obj ecti on is overru]. 

MR. ROSE1113111G: I take fo,n exception. 



Q, What is your answer? 

s there any doubt 

certain) that this defendant 

A 'Say it over again? 

n your .mind are you at all. un-

s the person  Who was running away 

when you turned around immediately upon hearing the• shots? -A 

noliOubt. 

aren't you.? 

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. ROSENBERG: 

You knew Salkin) didn't you? A Wh 

Did you know. Salkin) Harry' Salkin. 

Did. you have any fight with him? A 

Did he ever• have any  fight with: you?. A. 

Are you a of any gang? 

were you there on that night t 

Q Keep your voice .up The jury ca 

Q Did you know you were going to meet 



What is that A Broome Street between Orchard 'an 

Between Orchard and Allen? 

Is it On the north side of Broome Street, or on 

south side, the uptown side; 

catessen store? A Harry Salkin my brother and myself, 

Q Anybody else-? k Nobody else, 

Wasn't _there other people there9 K No, 

Q Won't you please' keep your 

When you got out of the delicatessen store you intend-

ed walking on Broome Street east towards Ludlow Street; is thai 

Yes, 

Then, you were' on Broome Street 

reached Orchard Street., when you m 

A We reached Orchard Street, just on the corne,r, 

cl On which side of Orchard. Streetthe west aide 



6 side -nearest 

You were on the uptown side of Broome)3tree 

A •Up on the west side corner. 

Q. The west side of Orc d. ,har Street? 

Q, And the n th side of Broome; that 

side of Broome? A The uptown side of Broome 

of orchard Street and the west sideof Broome. 

Q, oroha,rd Street has no 'uptown side? A ye 

goes to the watiir, and the other goes uptowna 

Q, Orchard runs north and south, and Broome 

Q And you were on the west side. of Orchard Stree 

Q Then, you were on Broome Street between Allen And, 

Q, Isn't that right? A lio; 

nearest to -Ludlow Street? 

Allen?A West sided 

Q, . Then you had not crossed Orchard Street 41.en you met 

the defendant9 A No, we did. not cross. 

Q. Then, according to your story, you: were on the north 

the southeast corner of Orchard and Broome Street; 



Q What is that?- .4 Broome and Orchard, - 

• Were you on the block between Orchard nd Allen •Stree 

or on the block' between Orchard and Ludlow Street9 

a little more to Orchard - Broome and DeLancey Street'4 

about ten feet  from the 

corner fifteen feet away from DeLancey Stree 

Q, Then, you were on the west side of Orahard Street between 

Broome and Delancey Street? A There is the corner (indicating 

It goes in Orchard and Broome and everythin 

Q, I know that, but were you on the block which• is bounded 

on one side by the west side of_O chard Street and with  the east 

side of Allen Street, or were you On the other side, of the 

street,wh.ich is bounded by the east side .of Orchard Street with 

the west side of Ludlow Street? Do you understand what I 

You know the neighbothOod pretty. well, doe.. t Areas 

When 3roi.1 are .on Broome Street, the. uptown sido, this 

delicatessen store is? A Yes, 

Q. When you face towards the river; when you face toward.e 

Ludlow Street, walking towards ludlow btreet 

hand side, is that right?A Yes. 

Q As you rewalking on Broome Street 

store? . Th.1 ri 



• 

The leftha,nd?' 

MR. ROSENBMG: 

side  is it? 

MR. MEDALIE: 

west corner. 

Wt. ROSENBER 

man, 

the .nortja-

I have been trying to .get it from this 

R. VIEDALIE: He has stated. 

with too much geography. 

BY TitE COURT: 

Q Do you know there Kupperxrtan s sa.loOn 

Street? A There is two one on one side 

Q, Where the moving picture place is? 

only you confuse Mil 

and .one on the other. 

Q Ts it on that side of the street? A yes, 

BY 1.111. ROSENBERG: 

Q, You saw the defendant • on Orchard Street?• 

And you and your friends were. vtralking towards Ludlow 

Street? A No. 

Q, Where were you walking with your 

waiting for some party. 

You were waiting? A Yes, sir 

Q, You were waiting on the corner. A Yes,sir. 

Q, You are sure of that? Yes, sir. 

q And you were on the n 

Q, How. long were you 

fri.ends? A We were 

A Ten 



minutes or s 

CI How long? A Ten minute 

(1 Ten minutes? A Yes, sir. 

And who were 

of us were waiting.. 

Q Who were the three? 

Charles Shapiro. 

Q- The northwest corner 

u waiting on the corner with? A Three  

Q is that right? A 

Q. were you in the gutter or 

A In the gutter, 

.q Whit? A In the gutte 

Q. In the gutter? . A Yee', r, 

Q, were there a lot of people waiting 

you' on. the sidewalk? 

standing around 

there at that time? A Not in our conversation. 

Not in your conversation, I know that, but there were 

other people walking and standing n that corner? A There 

is a street; people are walking. 

Q of course, it is a street and it is a busy stree 

isn't it? A It is a bUsy street. 

Q And there are a lot of people walking on Broome Street, 

and a lot of people walking on Orchard Street? A Yes. 

And there were a lot of people walking past you when you 

were standing -there with ybu friends? A Passing bix. but 

they did not stop 

s'; 



.And  a great many people were passing b 

A For the ten minutes, yes. 

Ancl..6 lot of people were 

they? A Yes1 sir. 

Q weren't there a lot 

alsoe.not in your party, but 

know; I didalt see anybody. 

CI You say there were other .people 

were walking. 

ct Were there any people sinading on •the corner? A 

weren't they? 

'walking on the stree weren't 

madin there? The 

I didn't 

q Are you sure there was no •one there., or don't.you 

remember? Which? A Well. a thing like that,I couldn't 

be sure, but I didn't see no people exactly standing' n con-

verdation.. 

Q But ydu saw people .passing all the time? A yes 

Q And during the ten minutes that you were standing 

there how many people will you say passed you  Fifty, 

Q How many? A Fifty, twenty-five. 

Q Forty-five or fifty? 'A Fifty or twenty-five; 

couldn't remember exactly. 

Q Is that all there were fifty or twenty-five people? 

A yes, sir, 

Q. Wasn't there more than that? TherA mighthow* 

been more; I couldn't swear. 



aid no attention 

Q When u first saw .the defendan 

was on the sidewalk. 

Q, Coming down towards yo A Yes. 

How far .up Orchard Street did you a.ée.him cong 

We were on the corner  there; no more than twenty-tive 

About twenty-five feet " away? 

When you first saw 'him, he Was walking? 

And then he Was coming towards youl' 

Q 18 that right? A Yes) sir. 

Didn't you say he was in the saloon, before? A Yes) 

he came out of the door,, about twenty-five feet. 

Came out of the *saloon'? A Yes - 

Q, •Didn't you say he was walking down-OrChard Street from 

DeLa,ncey when you first 

stand your question; he was walking between the door and  

He did not recognize you a 

don't know if he did, or not 



Q You did not recognize hi You did not speak to h.17 

A N .• 

Q .1 am talking now of.when.he first came out of the saloon° 

A Yes. 

fellow. 

One other person? A Yes, sire 

Q, A man walking with him? A Walking a little ahead of 

He did not recognize You then did he" A• I don't knows 

You did not recogrn7e1un. A No, didn'tI  talk to him. 

You didn't talk to him, and he didn't .talk to you" A No. 

• Q, You don't know whether that an was.wi.th him? .sen 

the other fellow. come out of the saloon. too biat I don't  know 

if he was with him, or not, 

Q, The only reason you say he was withh m was they both, 

Q How many feet behind the one ma,n was this defendant" 

A Four feet behind. 

Q About four feet? A Yes, sir. 

Q There were other people walking on that street at that 

time, weren't there" A No, I didn't see any. 

Q What'? A I didn't see nothing at present, not t at that 

minute. 



• Q, When you saw the defeadant approaching: you, -tvas your 

friend and brother looking toward him? A Yes, they did. 

Q. They were looking toward him; 

Q Now, where did the young lady come from' 

ame from Broome StreeL 

The young lady was 'walking from Broome 

You didn't know who  she "kralis? 

Q, And as she passed the defendant she made 

Did the. defendant appear 

A He answered friendJy 

With a smile? A Yea, sir, 

some remark 

Q There was no quarrel between the defendant 

Q And she asked' some questions and 

ness; is that right? A Yes. 

Didn't she stop and talk to 'him? A She stopped to 

a second, and al-is walked way; she stopped for a few moment, 

went about her busi-

Did anybody else stop and talk to the defendant at 

time? A No, I didn't see it. 

Q. How many people vre e 'between you and. the defendant 



the woman was talking 

anybody talking. 

QI 

A People Passed 

people were passing by at that time? 

Ity the Way., It was dark that night? AY 

Q *Sure of that? A Yes, sir. 

QI The lights were- lit? A" 

saloon lights were kind of dark. 

(4,- It was dark in the salaon, but was there 

light there? A Ye g sir, 

Q Is there an electric light there? A Ye 

Q But there were other lights around? A No,  

Q Was it dark at that place? A .Yes. 

Q Dark? A Yes, sir. 

it was Sunday night; 

here was not 

You continued to talk to yOur brother and your frien 

Barry Salkin, didn't you? A Yes, :sir. 

.You were talking? A'Talking t.. Salkin. 

•And you were waiting for slomebody? -.A, :Yes. 

-Q Were you looking toward the defendant Atl.en you were 

talking? A We started to smile, and then we turned arOund.-. 

Q. And thenyou continued-to teak didn't you? A Yee. 

.Q  What were you talking about?. A-BEe said the girl 

-.kissed him, and I laughed. - 

Was he talking to some one else'? A 

Weren't you waiting for somebOdy? A _Yes, 

Q At that time .rop -Jere waiting for so ebody? 



ci And it 'did not impres 

(I Nothing happened at• that time with the defendant 

ention to him? A Nol 

Q Is that right? A I only paid at bention he had a cu 

t4And he ran away? " A No, we only paid attentlo 

he said a girl kissed hit. 

.And at that time how many feet away- Was 

A At that time; about five or. six feet awe,y. 

You were in the gutter? A. Y 

And the defendant. was on the sidewalk? A Ye 

Sure of :that? A Sure. 

Now, • wasn't you standing between the defendant 

No, we were the •same thing. - 

Q You were all three in a line, r bunched tocether? 

No,  I was far away.; he was nearest, 

nearest? A .Harry. 

•,)the 1' was next?•A My brother was firs 

sirs 

AM  I AMS 

re third? A Yes) sir, 



Were you all bunched to ether? A Yes 

In a circle? A yes,sir' 

Sure of that  A Ye sir. 

• Q If you were a circl 'who was• nearest the defendant? 

A My brother was nearest 1. 

Sure of that  A Sure. 

Q, You began to laugh?. A Yes, sire 

Q Isn't that right? A Yes 'sir. 

Q, And then 'you were waitIng. .for some friend? 

Q, isn't that right? A yes,sir. 

Q You didn't know what was going on with that girl and the 

defendant) did you  A No, 

Q You didn't pay any attention to that? A No. 

Q, Is that right? A Yes„. sir.. 

Q And after you were 'mating for some tithe 

next thing you heard? A Three shots fired. 

fot You heard three shots? A Yes, sir.- 

Q Whether they came from- three revolvers, or from one, 'you 

don' t know? A No I think it cam - 

Q, You don't know. - 

Lill. flD.A.LI.N: The witness is answering, and he 

cuttinp:, •J.i./13 off. 'hat is nô.t right. 

colTRT: Yes, don t do 

cl Do yow kno eViler they came 

what 

pistols? A I• 'hotsin $UcoGaf3iQfl one 

Ales s 

was the 

---Ymigiwasmar. 



fired the shot 

Q, At the time he shots were fired 

defendant? 

Q Or your back was - you were in 

. back was t.o the defendant, if he was standing where he vas ien 

you last saw him? - A Yes, sir 

IS that right?- A Yes, air. 

Q You don't know vthether he was standini there when the 

shots were fired, do you? 

Q Did you see the Man fire the shots A Fire the shots., 

Q Was your back turned, to the man or men who fired the 

shots" A Yes, sir, 

Q Is that right? So that, u did, not seethe Man who 

'fired the shots? A No 

Q Now, at the time that the shots. were 

number of people around you and your friend IlarrY 

brother? A No, I didn't see nobodym 

Q Were there people passing by? 

.ie said far away they were passing; 



feet away from us. 

Weren't there any people passing by you at the time of 

the Shooting? t remember exactly. 

Didn't you say before people  were passing by 

when you were standing on the corner? A Ten min4tes time 

is a lot of time; thousands of people could pass 

There were crowds passing A When'? 

minutes, or at that moment? 

During the ten minutes. A Yes, sir. 

There were crowds of people passing? 

Q, Going one way and going the other way; 

in ten .minutes  

n t that right? 

up to' and including 

shots were fired, crowds of people passing, going In one 
direction

 and the other directIon? A Nä ,.X didn t, see verrmuch 

dn't see very much people? 

seo some people? A 

win- took place 

onl: paid attention to him 

cc lot of people vunnin 



asked you if you saw a lot of people running„ immed. 

fter the shooting" 

TEE COURT Running in what direction? 

Q Did_ you see • a lot of people' running': imrnediately after 

the shooting? 

iftRo NEDALIE: 

it is misleadihg, 

THE COM: Objection sustained, asto form. 

MR. ROSE1Th3R '1 take an exception  

Immediately after the -shooting tlid you See a :number 

of people running away from you from where you were? 

seen a bunch of people coming around me, ihere I was. 

the question, 

Q Now, .did YOu ee ,anybod run awar froM yhere, y 

standing after the shots were fired? 

Q, This defendant? •A 

BY R. ROSENBERG: 

after the shooting?' A :Ye 

Q Before you saw the defendant 

at the same Urne I seen him running away, the other people. cai 

when you turned. around, you. say!  the defendant 

running, nd :t the same moment a number of •peaple surrounde4 



from five to 

- Q. In that, second? A Yes sir: 

Q The moment you turned 

running? A Yes 

Andat the some time a number 

Is that right? A Yes, 

Sure of that? A ,Yess, 

Q And when they were on top of you 

brother and Harry? A No, we took Harry in the 

• Q Just try and put yourself in the position of recalling 

what happened at the time of the sh.00ting0'. Didn't you see a 

number of people .running away at that time9 

seen people running, but not running away., 

Q Of course, you saw a lot of people running, 

TIM COURT: He said he saw people running, but not 

running away from where he Was, Is that. right? 

THE WITNESS: That is what i said. 

Q, Didn't you see people running in every direction as 

soon as the shooting took place? A - I don't  

Q Didn't you see people running towards You as soon as 



Didn't you see that? A. Y 

And didn t you see people running amay.from you as soon 

as 'the shooting took place? A No. 

Q Will you swear there were not other ,People-whO ran 

away at the time of the shooting? 

but I did run away - 

Q Will you swear other people did not run away_at 'taw time 

of the shooting, run away from You? A (a° answer). , 

A Is that plain to you? A (No answer). 

Q Did you, Mr. Shapiro, see .persons other, than this defend-

ant running away fromwhere.you were standin 

paid attention to him running away, and I didn't see any others 

run, or note Harry Salkin was hollering so fieree 

take him to the hospital, I couldn't see nobody. 

Q Will you swear other people did not run away'  

THE COURT: He has answered the questiOn: 

he only paid attention to the defendants He saw the de 

q It was absolutely dark aroUnd there? 

Q And it was hard to see anybody; is that right? A Yes. 

Q, And you could not tell a. person's face five or six feet 

could ou, because it was so dark; is that rigizt" A 



BY THE COURT: 

Q, Strange people you cottldn t recognitie. 

But you kp.evr the defendant? A Yes, sire 

BY MRØ ROSIENTBBRG: 

Q Then you saw the man limning away whom you say was the 

defendant, did you see that man's face? A I coulsin t see his 

face, but I saw a bandage on his face, 

Q That is the only reason you say he defendant ran away 

was because you saw somebodY with a bandage running ,away? A. 

the man, s foe e who was rithnin 

A He didn't have no face*, The whole face was tied up• 

Q The whole face was tied uP? 

Q It was the back you saw of the Man running? 

Q But you could. not .se.e the. face when he 

wasn'tQ And  it absolutely dark? A It was dark. 

Q Did you see the defendant that 'night .after the shoo;ting? 

Broome .and Orchard.. 

Around OrohardStreet. 

A After the shooting, 

lid Broome? Yea• 



Standing there? A Walking with? young la 

What time of night was it? A An hour Or two later .1 

saw him in two pl.aces. I saw him in the moving picture place, 

Q You saw him in the moving picture 

kg What? A With a .young lady* 

Q Do you know who that young lady 

Wasn't that the young lady who spoke -

Q Now, when you say you first saw the 

turned around and smiled, how long were you 

" talking, or waiting at the corner, before u heard the -shots? 

Q And while you were waiting thOse two minutes, do.. yc 

this defendant was? A No, I didn't pay no at-

g You paid no attention to him? 

Q You know a minute is sixty seconds don't 

Q What is your business? A House-painter. 

Q, House-painter? A Yes, 

Q And when you work you work on time 

Q So that, you are a pre Ay good jud 



you charge by the day, or hour? 

you know pretty much how 

q Is that r • t?. 

IQ, Well, now, when you say you S ELNIT 

away, did you see his hands? - His hand?. 

Q Yes. A I only seen one hand* 

Q What hand did you tee.) A The ri 

Q, Did he have a pistol in h.is hand? A 

• Q Did he have a pistol in the, other hand?, A 

the other hand. 

Q. -When you sair him before the shooting, did he 

• pistol? A No, he had his hand in his pockets* 
•- outside 

Q His/pockets? A Inside pockets. 

Q That? A In the inside pockets* 

Q, Which hand did he have it in his inside pockets? 

hands in his overcoat pockets* 

When' t it cold that -night? A Xlt was chilly* 

•Q Didn't you have your hand in your pocket? 

my gloves on. 

Q• That? A I had my gloves on. 

Q Didn't your brother have his hands in his pocket 

A Yes, sir. 

Q And the girl had her hands in her pocket ? A She might  

Q Didn't Harry have his hands in his pockets? He 

Q Nothing unusual about that? A No. 



Q, That -is, when you first saw 

ROSENBERG: That is all. 



RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, 

Q You know the defendant pretty wen, don't youWaes 

You have known him for some ti 

Q You know what he looks like? 

Q And even if he has his back turned 

recognize that it is he, can't you? 

Q And so when he was running that .ti 

culty at all in iecognizing him as the person who was running? 

Partly from his face, partly from his form, partly from 

the way he was _dressed and running? A Yes, sir. 

Q You were absolutely sure it was the defendant. A Y 

Q Because you knew him a long time? A Yes.. 

Your brother was shot in the stomach wasn't he? 

Q And Salkin was shot in the bedk? A Yes, eir 

Are you able to indicate just how your brother was 

facing, with reference to the door of thatsaloon into which 

the defendant ran? Can you show us? A Yes, we were in a 

and we couldn't smile, so we turned around, and my 

had nerve enough to smile, and he stood in the sam 

understood you to say. YoUr brother was facing hi 

cause your brother had nerve enough to laugh in his fate; 

is right, isn't it? A Yes; 



your brother laughed 

while- you and Salkin had your backs 

• Q 'While your brother was still facing him and laughing 

in his face? A No, he turned around and. I turned. around*, 

'My back Ans 

Wasn't your brother still laughing when 

- turned? A Then I turned, I don't know what he was doang 

were all laughing at the start. 

But your brother was not talking to the defendant Mi. 

And he laughed in the defendant' 

You had your back turned? 

And as he was still facing ij1fendant he was shot .n 

your back was 

Your brother did not turn around? 

To talk to you, during .the time his face was 

toward the defendant? A No   

Q, .3o w, you saw the part 



And. you know exactly how he 'was muting 

Q Now, did those shots come from the direction of the de. 

fendant, from where he was standing? 

Q They cathe, from the direCtiOn. of where the defendant Was 

standing on that corner facing your brother and facing your. back 

and. Salkint s back? A Yes, sir. 

Q, That is the direction the shots came 

way, but I didn't see anybody shooting. 

in front at all? A No. 

Q Between the door of that saloon into which the de-

fenda.nt ran and the defendant, was there any other Person at 

the time  you turned around? A A few persons. 

Q, What did they do? Did they run'? A No, they walked 

quick; they Old not run. 

Q, They walked'? -A Yes, sir. 

Q, They came over to you, to your brother and to Salkin'? 

Well., that was 

ecause as soon as I heard the. shots Salkin hollered 

and I grabbed him and all of a sudden I was surround-

that you turned around and saw the defendant had already run 



about three feet from wher:e he, was last Standing. 

moment, was. 'anybody else running awaY? 

Q You faced directly in the 

faced. his back. 

Q And that was the direction from which 

A No, that was the opposite.. 

Q He faced the other direction? A Ye 

direction 

Q What I meal is this: Let us assume that you axe your 

brother, and that I um the defendant* At the time the shoot-

ing occurred the defendant was facing your brother? A Yes. 

Q, That i s the direction from which the shots came? •AWell) 

when the shooting was going on, the defendant -was back a littas, 

and when I turned around I seen the front '7 

Q, You turned around? •A Yes sir* 

Q And then the defendant had 

(Illustrating)? •A Yes, sir. 

Q, And was running? A Yes, sir.. 

• Q, Now, this is the place where the ,hots came from, 

it (indicatirg)? A A little bit ahead a ways because 

he kept on running. 

Q So, three feet nearer to you was, the place from which 

the shots came? 

R. ROSENBERG: Objected to aairoblematioa3. 

eculation.• 

UEDA=3: Question withdrawn. 
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Q, You have in mind the door of the saloon into which the 

defendant ran? You know where that is. 

Q He ran in a straight line for that door, did&t he? 

And he ran from the point at which 13.e_wa.s 

Q You have in mind the door, 

stahdingwhen 

A Say it over 

f the saloon you 'know 

standing the Butter" 

Q You remember where the defendant was standing when your 

back was turned to him? A Where the defendant was standing 

when My back was to him, yes. 

Q That was before the shooting" 

Q Was it a straight line from the place where he was 

standing before the shooting to the saloon 

q, Was he running; was he running in that. strai het line? 

Q, .Was anybody else running in any direction from about 

place? A At that place, I only seen .people walking. 



the place they. came from? 

MR. ROSi1tB.RG; Objected 'to as • speculative. 

B. 11.11DALIE: Of course, he has testified .alreadyas -

to. What kind of wounds they had  and how they were physic-

RE-CROSS7EXAMINATION• BY MR. ROSENHERG: 

Q, You brought out on your re-direct examination that the 

shots came from the direction the defendant was standing. Nc 

at the time of the shooting, did you face the defendant? 

Your back was what you considered con-

sidered the defendant was'? Your back was to the place where 

You were looking in an opposite direction? 

Is that coct? A Yes, sir* 

Now, when you heard the shots, do you know where they 

A They came from the direction he was before. 

What? A They came 'from the back side diirection. 

That is, you are sure they did not eorlie from, the fron 

Q So, they must have come from some place 



when -You said theycäme from the direction Where the 

defendadt was standing you mean to say that they came from Some 

place in the beck of you is that it? A Yes. 

THE COURT: That is perfectly plain. 

Q How long did it take for the three shots to be discharged -

the revolver" A Straight shots, one, two, three• -

And then you turned around, and you saw this defendant 

He didn't have any pistol in his hand? 

And you saw his hands? A ri saw one hand 

THE COUT: He saw the righ 

There did he run . A .Up to the saloon 

Q Didn't you see a number of people run into the saloon• 

for safety? A In the saloon, no. 

Q Didn't you see a number of people running into that door? 

hire were people standing by the door, but not running in. 

People walked in afterward* 

Q, people walked in the d.00rat the Same time the de-



0~1 aoseg,e,1114.4.* 

the time of the shdoting? A I don't know, because my back 

was there. When I turned around I seen the people there 

. standing. 

Q Men you turned around, you saw this defendant 

the direction of the door- of the saloon? 

it Didn't you -.see other people running 

Yes,. Sir,* 

7 

running in 

In.. the :direction• 

the door of the saloon at that same time? A. 

walking in', but not running in. 

Q Walking in? A Yes, sir. 

Q Were they walking fast? A Plain walking. 

Q, How many people did you see walking plain-, a 

scribed, it, into the saloonvat the same time that you 

I seen people 

you de-

s_ the 

defendant going A TWO. 

Q Two? A Yes  sir. 

Q Sure of that? A Not more tbon..02±ee. 

'Q That night was dark, wasn't it" A Yes, 

Q' And you could not distinguish a- person more than a. foot 

or two away from you, could you? A No; 1 could see far 

Couldn't see -exactly a face, but I could see a b 

Q You could see a .body?. A Yes, 

Q, But you could not see any features more 'than a few feet 

away, could you?' A A few feet? 

Q, Could you distingitish a person More than five or six 

feet away from you at the time that you  say the shooting took 

place? A I ion 't now. 

away. 

dy. 

"`",VIIIRSiguipaa 
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Q, What? A I don't. know. A strange person I eoul.d not 

recognize. 

BY ME COURT: 

Q That is, you could see the faces of, the persons that 

night, could you not? A No,X- doUld not see the faces. 

BY R. ROSENBERG: 

Q, You could not see the faces? , ,No. 

Q, Because it was too dark? ,f‘A Cloudy. 

Q That? A It was cloudy, lf I saw the faces, would. 

not remember. I never knew those faces. 

Q, The only thing you saw of the person that was running 

away was the back of the person? A Yes sir. 

MR. 'AMALIE: And the bandaged face, he said. 

Q, Did ,..T0u see the bandage?i A I seen the 13andage;he 

• had it over his head, all around. his face. 

Q, The person had a. bandage on?. A Yes* 

BY THE COURT: 

Q, That kind of hat did the defendant wear that day? 

A derby. 

BY MR.. RO SENBER G : 

Q, Sure of that? A Sur 

BY HR. I.LTEDALIE: You are the brotherof Charles Shapiro? 

A Yes sir. 

Q. You remember Charles Shapiro being in t1.e PoliteCourt? 



him 

Q. 

Have yoU seen h. m since?' 

Since then, have you 

73 

seen him a  week later. 

gem hiin? A N04 

DP You know where he is? A 

Q Have y u heard frOm him in .any 

from outside people but n 

wa A I heard from 

t from home. 

Q Not from your own familY? A No. 

Q, Your awn family knows nothing about him? 

MR. ROSENBERG: Objected to. 

THE COURT: 

nothing about him". 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Where did your brother li 
• 

that time, he was living A010*. 

Q With you? A Yes, sir, 

BY MR. MEDALIE: 

Q Is he living home now? A. 

q And you don't know where he 

Q You have not heard from him. 

heard from him outside of the'street. 

Q Do you know wnetherhe is in neW York? 

They told me - 

THE COURT: No, don't state what he 

is not living aome47 

THE WITNESS: No. 

Strike out "your own family 'knows 

No. 

e prior to that time? A At 

I have not 

A I don't know. 

Old you.. 

S. 

.-"":".911SEMINWZra 
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called as  a witness ,on behalf of the 

-being first duly sworn, testified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. NE.DA142; 

What is your name? A. Xohn, Hayess 

.Attached where? A Detective 

- On what day did you arrest him? 

Q Do you remember being - 

Q What date? A 8th of December 

Q Do you remember being in the Thitd-District..City 

Magistrate's Court, at First Avenue AhU7SeCOnd Street 

time the defendant was arraigned on various charges?' 

Did you hear Aim have a conversation with any person 

Q Who was t person? A A man by the name of Bielsky. 

(I Do ,ou recll iiat Dielsky vus doing in th4t.courtroort 

iht 



11E COURT: The obj ection is 

Bielsky say to the defendan in your presenc-e? 

IRØ ROSENBMG: I Object to that as incompetent 

irrelevant and inTranterial and hearsay,. 

time the defendant hasnot taken the st. 

contradicted by any testimony such az is attempted t 

elicited from this witness. 

TI COURT: On the grounds urged, the objectio 

ROSENBILRG: I take an ocception. 

Tim COURT: Now, Officer, in answering this q.ueats. 

be careful that the conversation relates to .thi 

THE COURT: Did it relate to this case? 

Tag. WITNESS: No, sir; it related to Bielsky 

Q Let. me ask you this: Did the defendant say 

thing at all about the case pending against him on the 

11111. ROSENBDRG: I obj ect to that as inc mpetent irrele 



vant arid immaterial upon all the grounds urged to‘the 

previous question. 

THE COURT:. The objection is overruled.. 

MR, ROSDITBERGI .1 take an exception. 

The complaint was being drawn against Bielsky for 

.nswer to what Bielsky said to him, he said 

"Are you going to pound me?" he said, "w 

BielekY said 

you, pound 

theright ,man? you know you am' t got the right ,man' 

the defendant stated, he said "If they are going to pound 

me, I will stick it into you". That is the words he used. 

Q Were there at that time any complaints in that court 

pending against the defendant for which he was being -rraigned? 

MR. ROSENBERG: I object to that. 

THE COURT: I will allow that, 

mR. ROSENBERG: Objected to. 

COURTi Yes.. People *vs. 

People vs. Barabotto, 196 N.Y. 



Shapiro the other complainant? 

He was in court; making a complaint aga.inst the defenda.n 

Who else was present at the time thatcoiLversat: 

place? A Patrolman Rothchild. 

Q Anybody else A The defendant and Bielsky an 

ER. M.WALIE: You may examine, 

EXAMINATION BY Mi. ROSENBIRG:- • 

Q Did you make a meM.orandum of at talk 

occurred when 

Pix the date, about? 

Q, The 9th of December? -A -Yes, 9th of -December. 

And from that time to this did you. refresh -yaur 

recollection from awthing on -the subject of that talk? A 

(14.d not refresiilny memory. 

Q Was there any :writing which you made at that t 

since embodyilv that conyereation? ToU Mean writj„ng 



In other words, there was talk. between this .Man•Bielsk 

whom this defendant charged with stabbing 

Q That is, the defendant had Bielsky arrested for 

(4, And, as a matter of fact, vs stabbed, the defendant 

isn't that right? A (No answer 

Q, Do you. know that of your own knowledge? 

stabbing? 

You know he was in the hospital? 

THE COURT.: I will exclude that, 

There was a talk between Bielsky and the 'defendant aboU 

the case in which the defendant charged Bielsky with stabbing 

A Yes, siri. 

Q And. the conversation related to that case? 

ROSENI3ERG: That is all, 

answers given by the witness with r espect t 

purporting to be in a case other than the Bielsky ca.se be 

stricken out, as it appears on cross-examination for the 

first time that it had reference solely to the so-oalled 

ease against Bielsky, and not any other ease, 

TILE COURT: Your statement. is not borne ou,t by the o 
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D1,oalled as a witness on behalf of 

the People, being first duly sworn, 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY VCRs =DAUB: 

Q What is your name? A Joseph. Rothchild. 

Q, You are a member of the Municipal Police Porce 

City? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Attached to what precinct? 

estified as follows: 

of - this 

Thirteenth Precinct, 

Q Do you recall being in the Third District City Magistrate' 

Court during the month of December, on the arrigrrnent of Prank 

Biels,ky on a charge of assault? A do, sir. 

Q, And do you recall being in the clerk s room at that time 

A Yes, sir. 

Q, 

Q, 

The complaint clerk's room? A Yes 

Was the defendant present- then? A Ye 

Was Bielsky present? J. Yes I ' Si1701 

Q, Did. 

defendant? 

sir. 

you hear a conversation between .Belsky andithe' 

TEE COURT: That must relate to Salkint ease4; 

Did you hear anything said about the C EL e pending agains 

defendant -on the complaint of Barry Salkin? A Yes  sir. 

Q, Now, wkt was said? Give the entire conversation? 

R.liOSIIIIIKERG: I object to that as incompetent 

Irrelevant and immat,erial and•Ivarsay. 

Tiii (JoURT: The objection is overruled. 

I take an exception. 



A While the affidavit was being drawn uP for •-I 

TiE COURT: Strike that out. 

. Attorney' s 

What did Salkin say, and what did the 

said, "If you rap me 

Q Who sai d? 

stick you up", 

Max Ostransky said 

defendant, sa 

Q, What was that? A r ansky said 
stick 

ii 11=qt. you up", meaning will rap you" 

T1 COURT: Strike out the evidence. I asked. you 

specifically what, • f anything the -defendant 8E4 d„.C'Ofl-

talking' to Max C.trnsky. Max Ostansky. was standing with 

the clerk; Bieisky', was standing _alongside .of me, 

said to Bielsky t. "If you rap me, I w111 rap you" 

you know to whom he *referred, "yes 

ML HO G: That is obj ected to. 

CURT: The objection is 

op and think •a minute? fatanythii 
„ainst tne defendant for shooting 
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Harry Salkin by either of them at that time9 

that again, Mr. .District Attorney.. 

Q . Was anything said by either Of 

• gainst the defendant for shooting Harry Salkin? 

Who Harry Salkin is? 

in is, no. 

Yes sir. 

A Let me hear 

them about the. complaint 

you know 

*don't know who Harry Sal 

Q Just look at that young man over 

Harry Salkin)? 4 Yes, sir. 

Q Was anything said about him? 

Q Now, Officer, did 

address? A Yes, sir. 

•Q, Did you know what 

there ndicating 

don't remember. 

you inquire for Frank Bielsky at his 

his address was at the time, where he 

last lived? A •9.3 Second Avenue, 

Q Did you go there? A Yes, sir. 

RI Were you able to find' him there? A 

A Did you go to any other address t. 100k 

•A Broome and. Orchard . 

RI 

RI 

Did you find him there? A No, sir 

During the past three months, have 

find any address of BielskY? 

R, 

A No, sr. 

sir. 

for him? 

u been able 

4 

Though you have looked for him :on several Occasions? 

A Carried a subpoena, yes, sir. 

MR. MIDALIB: That is all. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. ROSBNBMG: 

that took place  

-"":"XXXOPMNEMIS 



that complaint room between the ddfendant Tand :Bielsky was that 

.

 

the defendant said  t 1 will rap 

or words to that effect, is that right9 A 1 don't re-

member anythi else, 

Q Isn't it a fact that that is all that took :place? 

I couldn't tell you 

Q Didn't you, in answer to the District Attorney, 

this jury what took place itthat complaint room? 

All I heard is Be said to Bielsky, "If you rap 

Q• And who was there when that took place? 

Officer Hayes was standing in back 

Q Standing in back of you? . A 

Q And where was the defendant? A 

t the District Attotney. ask you to tell what took 

replied by saying, the defendant 

Bielsky , "If you rap .me I will stick you up, or I 1,1411 rap you"? 

1m' t that what took place? 

Q, And ish ' t that ail that tdok place? 

t that aX1 that took place? 

ert was anything, o wouldn't you know, t 

I 14m34r-4 may ookin 



match at all. 4—irisz, 1-,—

W115r 

q /Was it necessary for You to say 

Did I ask you anything about that? 

Q But you wanted to get it before 

walked away. I had nothing to do with the shooting whateoevet 

the shooting case. 

Q As a matter of fact you and Officer IIes were in 

M2. Medalie's office within the last few day 

there with Officer Hayes at all. I was alone. 

Q Never spoke to Mr. Medalie? A 

Q And didn't he ask you what took place 

room? A I don't remember* 

Do you meanto tell this jury you don't remember 

whether he asked you what took place in the ,complaint room? 

A- No, sir; he asked me different things about the case-. 

Q Didn't he ask you what took place between Iiiel6kY an 

this defendant9 A I don't remember. 

(4 So, the first time that you ever repeated con-

versation was on the stand today? 

-Q You never told anyone about it? A 

Q Do you want the jury to believe that? A Yea, ii 

You were there during all the time the defend4n 

in, weren't you? A Not all the tine, 



your prisoner. 

And it was your duty to stand. alongside 

And you did stand alongside of him didn't you? A Yes. 

Q, During all the time he was in the complaint room? A Not 

Q, Did you ever tell anyone about this talk that you hear 

between Bielsky and the defendant except What you said to this 

cluded his evidence. As I understand. it Officer Hayes 

testified - I better,not state it in thepresence of thi 

R. ROSENBERG: The. reason I am dwelling upon. it 

because I 'believe it has isome connection. with Officer Hayes' 

testimony which will perMit me to argue this ease at tin'-! 

other time as to what happened* I will be very brief. 

Q, Did you ever tell of that. conversation anywhere than 

Q What? A I never • did. 

ospital on t 



of. December 8th Sunda,y nights' A To a= hospital? 

QYes. A 

Q Did, Officer ,Iilayes, or did. you take him pier to be 

identified? A I didn't take him to no 

Q, And you know Bielsky? 

Q Sure of that? A I locked the both of them 

And where did you say you .looked for. 

for him at Second Avenue. 

A I just don't know the date. 

Q, How long ago did. you look for Bielsky at Second Avenue? 

hospital,. 

,d,,,vays ming out, at Orchard and Broome.; -was always th,ere 

he year iiea6d to go there. 

m. ROSE.NB12.1G: That 'is all. 

RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION. BY HR. 1:TDATIE: 

Jounsel for the defendant vanted to  know Whether yott 

me about the conversatiori 4.4 th4t, o 0401 exit 

fi:iditnt and Thielsky? 
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MR. ROSENBERG: No, I didn t saY'anYthing Qf the kini 

object to his misquoting the record. 

Q Did you talk to me about, this partibular indictment? 

• 

Q You poke to me about another indictment? A Ye sire 

MR. ROSENBERG: Objected to. 

THE COURT: Strike it out, a 

regard it. 

MR. MEDALIE: Your Honor, it was brought out that 

this Officer came to my office andtalked to me about 

a case. 

d the jury 7t1.13, cis-

TIM COURT: He did not talk to You about thi. s case. 

• Q You did not talk to me -about this cate in m:7 office., 

•did you? A No, sir, I did not. 

MR. MEDALIE: That is all. 

THE PEOPLE .RES• 

MR. ROSENBRRG: The defendant moves for the dis-

charge of the defendant, and r the direction of an 

,cuiita1, upon the grounds the facts _stated in the i 

Aictment nave not been-proved-, that the People have 

failed to establish the facts Stated in -either of the 

c unts tiLrged in the indictments. The People halm 

fc,iLE -!stablish the congiQsion of either of the crimes 

-",Z11116;10116101= 



charged in either of the counts :of 

reasonable doubt._ 

Motion denied. 

UR. ROSENBERG: Is your Honor open' t 

THE COURT: I will listen to argument, 

MR. ROSENBERG:. Does your Honor believe 

ficient to go to the jury on this evidnce9 

THE COURT:. I have denied your motion. I do. 

MR. ROSENBERG: I take -an exception._ 

the indictment beyond a 

argumept? 

thee .s 

base among yourselves, nor permitanyperSohto 

you about itoor form nor el-press any opinion as to.tb.e 

guilt or the innocence of the defendant, ' until: the case 

finally submitted to you.  BO in your seats tomorrow a 

.(The Court then toOk.4 recess until „omorrovr 

March .5th, 1913,.  at 1.Q30 A. .11. 
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THE PEOPLE El' 
-against-

AX OSTRANSEY 

ew York, Wednesday, March th, 1913« 

TRIAL. •0• ITTINUED. 

. an 

T D E.N D A 14 

(Mr. Rosenthal -openg the cage 

of the defendant.) 

MAX 

S B. 

ki the jux7 on behalf 

C 0 H E NI called as a witness on behalf„of the 

defendant , being first duly gworha. est ifi ed as follows: 

DIRECT MC.A.MINATION BY 2.M. ROMBERG: 

Q, What is your name? A Max. Cohen. 

Q, Where do you live? A 975 Union Avenue, Bronx. 

Q, What -i s your employment ? A I am booX'keeper 

with Messrs. Schwartz Brother, Cigar factory. 

Q Where is their .factory? A 376 Greenwic.th•Stree 

York City. 

Q, How long hwre you  been connected with th.at 

A Over thirty years, now, thirty-one years now. 

Do you know this young man, the defendant? 

A Yes, I do. 

firm? 

• What name do you know b.im I A ax Ostran 

Did he ever work for your firm? A He worked for us.; 

How long? A Between four and five years. 

Q, Covering what period of time? 1. an youJfix .1t).e time? 

,—""r=1111MMININICIM 
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Well, say exactly. I laiowit is 

years; about four years and five or six months 

Q How long ago did he work- for you2 

year ago, h.e left us. 

e left your place about a year ago?• 

our place about a year ago, yo, sr. 

Q, And hat he worked between four 

Wdziced regularl 

sliggept we get the. t 

R. ROS]BERG: I am going f o thow4 as 

in my opening, that he had been employdd regularly 

this firm for four or five years. 



All piece work? A Yes, sir. 

Q,  And was he a rregular workman' there Did he work 

regularly? "A Yes, 8ir. 

Q The same as everybodyelse? A The same .as 

everybody .else, ye9ladir. 

MR. ROSEN131AGI That i s 

mit...limasn: It seems to me, that in view of the 
offered, 

ilmnatektal testimonyAI ought to be alloWed, a wide lat 

tude. I thought the witness would be a character witnesai 

by these preliminary questions. 

R. ROSENBERG: I ind3.czte4 in my 'opening that 

zm going to show that this young an had been empooyed 

for four or five years with Schwartz Brothers; that after 

he left Schwartz Brothers, he worie d for ailother -firm. 

I want to show what he had done for the last six years; 

to show that he is not a gangster or a man mlxed. up with 

gangs, as indicted by the people. 

THE COURT: 

character witness? 

MR. ROSENBERG: 

Are you offering this witness az a 

been doing for the last four or five years. • 

:HE COURT:Are you offering him as a character . 

witness? 

.ROSEUMG: .I have not proved any character 

by thib witness. 



TIM COURT: How ±3 the evidence competent? 

R. ROSENBERG: • The Distrait Attorney claimed in 

his opening that this was a •gangster, 

he is a gangster. I want to isbow, as part 

history, that he Is young man who has worked for four 

or five years at one place. 

TH COURT: You understand the difference between. 

evidence of this character and establishing good reputa-

Of course 'I -do. 

evidence of good character. 

This 

evidence 

TL COURT: That you ar entitled o prove. 

R. MEDI1IE' I thought that could be proved by 

the defendant himself, but I did not think it vitts 

mi ssible by independent proof. 

THE COURT: I will a3.low 

It may be out -of the ordf3r,of 

proof. I am going to gut him 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. MEDALTE: 

know what °strait:31:y did after businesss3 

know people with whom he 



No. 

Q Not a single thing? A I know that  he as sociat ed 

with some of our other cigar makers. 

Q, But you did not see what he did. awe he left the office„ 

did you? A, No. 

Q You don't know with whom he associated., or how he 

carried on? A That I don't know. 

t er? 

Q, You don't profess to be a Imitn.ess his good: ob.aracir 

sustained. 

'MR. MAIZE: That is all. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q Have you seen the defendant during the paat year? 

I have seen him yes, Air. 

Q, Where? A Up in our shop. 

Did you ever visit him in th.e neighborhood wh.ere 

he lives? A I never visited hi no, n 

the defendant, being first duly smrn, teetifed.as follows:-' 

DIRECT RUMINATION BY HR. ROSENBZIG; 

Q What is your nams? A Herman Gordon. 

Q Where do you live? A 39. Rutgers Street. 



r. Gordon, what le your busineas? 

'Where? A 39 Rutgers. Street, 

39 Rutgers Street? A Yes, si 

And do you know this defendant? 

Where did he work for you? -A At his place of busi-

it the moving picture house. 

Q Prom when and up to when did. he work for. you? 

My partner has known him before, and he recoAmenlded-

11711.en did he commence to work for you and when did. 

he leave you? A He started to work for us last year; 

it was sometime in the beginning of the s eason. That .12;saas 

around the month of January some t into. 

A year ago) January? A ye 

How long did he work for you? •A (110 answer) 

He went to work for your firm a year ago last Januar.; 

Q And how 1dIng did he work here? 



Up to a. few months ago Yea, sir. 

Now, your Honor Object to this 

line of testimony, on the ground it is incompetent, 

irrelevant and immaterial, and that the testimony on 

this subject, unless this is 4  Character witnesi can come 

from the defendant only. I may be mistaken as to the 

rule, but that is my recollection. 

THE COURT' No, a defendant is allowed to give a 

brief history of his life, and there is no objection to 

having facts stated as to his employment, 

donee is not evidence of good reputationl.and Is .rto 

science can only come. from the mouth the.defendan . 

THE COURT: I will .11Ow this evidences 

And can you give the jury some idea of his hours 

of labor at your place of businees? A Yee, sir; the hours 

a,ve from two o'clock until eleven every day. 

• Two In the afternoon? A Two in the afternoon until 

eleven at night, every day in the meek. 

And has he worked regularly? A Regularly, yes air* 

And was he working up"to the time of bia arrest? 



I believe, b efore Christmas. 

(1 'Before Thanksgiving, 

worked until Thanksgiving. 

Did you ever viiit 

• Or associate with any people whora h 

nnoss ELIMINATION BY R. MILDALIE: 

Q .1 uiderstand you to .say that he worked 

He was there every day, because your pl. 

Sundays and Holidays as .as the ordinary business 

Q It is a small place that you own there, iant it? 

Well, it is an ordinary place of businesi it was mine. 

Q But it was a small 'place? A Z don't know what you 

• Q How many people can you get in there? A We have 

three hundred feet; two hundred and. ninety•laine feet. 

Q Then, it is a small place? Now, be frank with 

I want to know the facts? A well, the size of the house 



•described. 

The sitting capacity? A Two hundred and ninety-

nine. There is no moving picture house pertaitted to have 

any more. 

That is really a small house? A Well, a small. 

house. 

Q It is not a theatre? A We have one thre, too, b 

sides. 

Tha As not a very big traffic, haa itl 

Well, we -do quite a good. sized business. 

Q You are in charge of the place A At times, I am 

there! 

Ind your brother-in-law is there? A At times,•yes. 

Q, Then, why do you need a manager, if•you are there 

and he is there? A. Well, we absolutely need a man on the 

floor to handle the people, usher them into the Seats and 

take care of the place. 

Q Was he the manager? A lie was manager and u hering 

People to the seats. 

Q How: many ushers do you have „there ."A Only. one. 

Q He was usher/ A And 41001ianaging the place:. 

Q

 

You had some one in the ticket office? AYes sir. 

.Q, Who  was that?- A A girl. 

Q ale took care of the money side 'f it? A She BO 

tickets. 

,He had nothing to-do with t? A. With the'' 
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managing bu.siziess -but not the money. 

Q: All he had to ao. 

117 

take eare'of the people ? 

To  see that everything was in order and everybody was 

seated. 

Q. You, had an operator who ran the meehine A Yet sir. 

Q, And the -.defendant • had nothing to do with that? 

'No sir. 

• Q ',So, all he had to do wazto see that people got their 

seat* and that the house was clean? A  The law -requires--

Don't -tell us what the law requires. Just answer 

my questions) and when Mr.. Rosenberg -Stands up then pay at-

tention to him and not until then, because he 

you, while I =examining you. . Will yoU. tell us now that 

was there every day? A He was there eYery 

week. 

Can't exami.ne 

he 

in the', 

Do you recall how he stopped workirg for you? 

A Well, at night he went home. 

Q I mean, when did he stop Working for you all to ether? 

Yoa say he has not worked for you f a few months? 

A Yes; sir. 

Q When did he sto working f r you/ 'Did you .give 

uD business? A No; the next day he didnit how Up, and we 

made inquiries, 4nd were told that he was arrested. 

Q That is the ti e he- stopped. working for-you? 

A Yes; sir. 

"1.1, 



3.1 98 

By the way, did he work every night.? A Izery n 

r. 

Q Did he miss a single night? k 

You • are very sure of that.? ' 

I3ot any:. 

A If he took once oft 

off once in a while* a day which of course, I give him a day• 

if he asked for it. 

Q, Por instance, he took a night off 

I think he had a night off then. 

Q Ind was he selling tickets f 

A Not to nw knowledge. 

Q How many balls did he go 

kind as his own? A I don't know. 

Q You don't know the first thing about that? 

where he went to. 

Q, You don't know what his connection is with the 

Young Sharkey Association, do y 

for his ball? 

r ball n your place 

other balls  of the BM 

A No. 

Not 

Q, You rea13,r know nothing about him, excel? his beirtg 

in your place? A He worked for me regularly. He attended 

to his business. 

And now and. then he took a day off? 

ally, he took a day off. 

MR. That. all. 

A Well natur. 

E.• 
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HARRY 

of the defendan 

H A P I R 0, called as a witneas on behait 

being first duly sworn, 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY IfIR. ROSENBERG: 

Q What is your name• 

estified as follows: 

A Harry Shapiro.:, 

g, Where do you live? A •1015 Ea. 

4, 

arrest ed. 

Up to when did he work there? 

And he was arrested on December 

t 167th street. 

Mr. 

A ,A.bout ye*Nr. 

A. Until he wart 

7th's last year 

A it out that time. 

Q Sunday, the 7th, or 8th? A rt waSon a Sunday, 

remember, it was in December, I don't remember the .d.ate. 

Q And up to that time he worked. in the place*? A He 

worked in the place. 

MR. ROSOBERG: That is all 

.1-71101110i6MBEIS 

ivrir 

Q, Are you the partner of the last Witnese? A 

Gordon? 

Q Mr. Gordon? A Yes,. sir. 

Arid what is your business? A Moving Picture, 

vaudeville house. 

q, And do you know this defendant? •A / do. 

Q And Max Ostransky? A I do. 

Q He worked in. your moving picture place? A He did. 

Q, Is that the house on Rutgers Street? A ,Rutgers 

Street, 39 Rutgers. 

Q, And ho* long did he work thero 



manager. 

Q4 Of what A All around man. 

Q You really manage the place, don't you? 

but when we go out we want some one there. 

Q You are not out all the time? A lam not 'out a'l 

the time, but we shange off. 

Q, . But you are there most of the 

time, yes. 

Because that is your business? A Yes, 

You have no other business? A 10 other business 

the boss? A We are both boss, lirr. GOrd.on an myself. 

You are in charge of the place, and yoU are there 

A Since six weeks,' but' I had another 

business but I had another business before six teeks ago. 

was not there all the time, only three days in the week. 

And theotb.er three days Mr. Gordon wag• there? 

Q, And when you came there for three days in the week, 

you stayed there? A Yes, sir. 

During all of the business hours? A ,Yea, sir*. 

Q,

 

So that either you or MX'. Gordon was in the place? 
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es, 

Q, 'Whenever the place was open? A Whenever the place 

was open. 

So either you were the manager, r Mr. Gordon 

the manager? A Yes,sir. 

Q

 

Whenever the jlace was open? •A Yes 

Q The house has a capacity of how many 

Two hundred and ninety nine. 

So it is not a very.large house 

seats? 

it? A No. 

Q, It is not a theatre? It is a moving picture place? 

Yes, sir. 

Q You charge five and ten cents admission, 

Five cent s. 

Q, The defendant worked the 

Yes, on the floor. 

q,• You had no other usher besidesthe• defendant? 

A We had another one. We got.,t170. 

Q, Two ushers? A Two ushers. 

Q,Mr. Gordon said 'only the d.efendant? There i s 

one for the stage and one.for .the. floor. 

Q, The defendant has nothing to .do with the a ag ? 

A I know, but he was the main tan on the floor. 

Q, But there was no ,other man on the floor? A iffe:_have 

another man from the stage who .goes on to help him. 

Q To help Ost -ansky give people seats? A o giv* 

on 

• 

floor 

suppo se? 

didn. t he? 

-7=11MISIENISIESSOF, 



see that nob 

n order. 

S b,e is really usher? call,hira.manager.-

What does he manage? A: The days I was not there, 

maybe Mr. Gordon has to go out a 'couple o hours, and we have. 

to have some one in the place in case the Inspector comes 

You had him there for appearances, 

inspetor came in, he could do the talking?...A  you don'  

understand me. The idea of having two men in the ple.ce, 

this: Vie have to be on registry. If I am out, 

Gordon out, suppose we go out, somebody is there to answer. 

Q To answer what? A Suppose a fireman, comes in 

wants to inspect the place. 

Q Do you have to call him the. manager fox that .reason? 

Certainly. 

That is the reason you cafl. him the manager? A Th 

manager. 

• Q But, really, he was the usher? A r, an oars 

t aker. 

Q Was he also the bouncer? 

R. ROSENBERG: That is objected, to. 

THE COURT: The objection s overruled.. 

. RO SENBMG I take an exception. 

Nov, asn't he the bonnoert A I dont t under,* 

stand. 



r--

6 

uPpose somebody' 

the Person who put. him out 

if anybody is disorderly. 

0 

ate in and was disorderly, ne\'vas 

wasn t he A We -ail tid• that, 

But didn't you hire him-because he was & strong 

and could put -people out/ 

Poifies 

Q. 

Not exactly for that pur. 

Re was hired. as a general man. 

I didn't say Ile was h4red exactly f 

Vas that one of the purposes for which he was 

A Well, I would say yell, iV one way. 

In a way, that is sot. A Ye 8.  

q Because he is a strong fellow, 

nen than him. 

r that purpose.: 

hired' 

A There are s ranger 

You occasionally have some. trouble 

We occasibnally have a man on the floor. 

n that lace' 

Sometimes rowdies 00)014 in' Yes, t1heT4O. 

Some times rowdies come inl sir. 

41 And they raise 4 disturbance,A Ye* sir. 

Probably want to come in without paying, d you Imre 

. got to have somebody to put them Out; so you hired the d. 

fendant because you knew he could do that kind of work, 

That is true, isn't it! Be frank with me A I coUldn't 

. admit to t.Lat because we have very little trouble there. 

I don't see how I can admit to that, when X did' think I 

needed a man like that 

Now, just a min e; cOUnsei 



hire him because he could be used. for -that -Purpose whenever 

it Was necessary? A 

Did he work there every dkyt A 

What hour A From one till about ]even o'clock 

in the evening., 

prom one to eleven"- 

Q, Sure he came at one" „A One, and sometimes twelvend

 if we needed him at ten he would dome at ten. 

But usually he came at twelve or one? 

And worked* right on until eleven" A Tea. 

Every day in the week. 

Never missed 411. day. 

Not -a single day. 

Por no reason at A For no re0A.son,a 

You are sure of that A. cepting the day 

And he was working for you a year? 

-That .ies 

RE DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. ROSENBEMG: 



1. 

Isn't it necessary to have somebody in, the plait* 

keep order? A It certainly is. 

q, Did you hire this man as a bouncer/ 

f r that .no. 

word now. 

ing/ 

Not train 

Do you know what a bouncer is, A I first Itear ,that 

If you don't know what it is, what are o. an 

Because the District Attorney explained it to 

Q•
 What do you think a bouncer i 

*;- 

me. 

An usher? 

A bouncer I think 

r3 we don't • 

 now 

What is that? 

Q What is a bouncer? 

is a main that kicks somebody out.. 

Q. Did you hire him for that? 

kick anybody out. 

Q Did he ever get a day off when he was there* 

A Not that I could remember. lEr. Gordon moil give kia 

day off, or two, but while I 'w0,3S there he was alwaYS. 114 the. 

place. 

Q, The place is .open until About eleven clock at 

night/ A Until eleven o' clock/ 

MR, ROSENBRRG: That is al 

GUS SANDE R, called as a witness on behalf of the 

defendant, being first dtay  sWorn„ testified as follows:-* 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY ER. ROSENBMG: 

Q, What is your name/ A elis Sander. 

M1111ESIM 



Where do you-li 

Where do you liTeT 

yes, the Third house from. Br001116 Street: 

The third house from Eroo*e  

Between Broome and Dalancey A Between BV.000W4n 

De1sacey4 but more to Broome street. 

Keep your Toice Up? A Between- Brccite an a 910-

lialc ay, but more to Broome Street. 

4 po you knoW the saloon corner o1 Broe and. Dslane 

of Orchard Street, Yes., sir.* 

On the corner- A On the corner. 

There was a Shooting t ok place on December 8th, 

TRH COURT: Don/ t lead. the witnees# 

Q. Did you eTer witness any Shooting at the so 

Broome and Orchard Streets? A Tez, sir.. 

Were you there When a shootingbappen 



• How many  shootings did you ever witness on 

There was three shots 

Q How many times,„ or how many days, upon bow 

Was it more than once? 

Objection withdrawn. 

ROW many times did You ever witness a 

A Never. That is the first time* 

And that was about when,A That was on the corner 

of Broome street and Orchard street; that was about three fo 

away from the sidewalk; 1 saw that Mr. 

Do you know Ostransky? A Yes. 

DO you know him well? 

On that evening, were you in the neihbor12ood of 

Broome and Orchard Streets*, 

Did you see Ostransky there 

Did you see him/' A. Yes 

What was the condition of _his face' 



_ 

Q After supper 

from seven to eight or nine-

'After supper. 

after seven. 

Q And you were on the corner, were yo 

could be 

Ye's r• 

'Was Mr. Ostransky alone on the corner-Of/At evening! 

There was a ady there. 

Q I ask you whether he was alone, 

No sir. 

Q, 'Alio was he with? A A lady was there with, hi 

two men was there with him. 

Q Two men with him? 

Q, Are you: _sure of that! 

Yes-. 

an sure they were 

standing on the corner more, but near him was two mans, jand. a 

lady. I didn't heard what they were talking, b 't I know they 

was talking together; and then, a couple of minutes later, 

about three or four. minutes, I heard three shots, Piet about 

three foot away; it was just on the corner, in the middle, 

about, three foot away from the sidewalk. • 

Q, Where were the men •Stan.ding when 

Who was standing, 

Q.  Did you see. the -man or .men who were shot?' 

can't tell for iure. 

Q Did you see the man shot was 'there a 

Yes, sir. 

Q, Did .you see him/ A 

• started to run.. 

0:1: Did you see him befo a th ahooti 

ma 

the shots were fired! 

Al

shot? 

because everyb flY 

No sir, 



that.;, 
Q What s the first thing you recollect of this thi 

ITS .COURT: Let him tell his own ,story. 

Q Tell your own story, in. your awn _WaY, 

Well, I.know that I was standing there that evening, a 

I was surprised at that time. aY before, anc 

he didn't have no bandage on his face; and the same day, whet 

I saw him in the exening, he was standing with a lady there 

and two mans was near him; it was just onthe .corner, about 

two or three foot away from me; I didn't 

was surprised, andI looked :at his face straight when he ha 

the bandage on. Then, about three or four, minutew later, 

I heard three &Lots, one right after the other. The shot 

was on the middle of the sidewalk, it was away from. the sidi 

walk about three foot, just on the corner Or Broume-

was in Orchard the shot was in Orchard, but on the corner 

of Broemet then everybody started to run away. 

run away, too, because I didn't want to get .shot. 

Did you see the man who did the shooting/ 

sir, because I didn't lock on the corner, but I.looked at 

Mr. Ostransky's face at that time. 

Q Were you looking. at Mr. Ostranky when the .e* 
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too& place. A - Yes, and. then I heard shots. 

While you. were looking at him? 

was surprised-• -

Of course, 

, - 
While you were looking at Ostransky, dityou hear 

the shooting? A At the same time  I heard. the Shooting.. 

lib 

Did you see a pistol in his band? A No., sir. 

Are you sure of that/ A Yew, air. 

Did you see the pistol in the hand of the man who. 

did the shooting' A No, sir. 

Q How many people were around that corner when the 

Shooting took place/ A There wasntt much when the 

Shooting started, but about two or three minutes later.. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q How many people were there at the time you heard 

the shooting/ A On the same corner/ 

Q Yes. A It was in the evening, and peoP1 Were 

passing up and down. 

Q They were passing up and down/ A Yee, sir. 

, BY MR. ROSENBERG: 

Q Can you tell the jury about how maPY People were 

passing up and dawn at the time of the shooting? A There 

was passing lots of people; I didn't count them 

Q Is it a very busy street? A Certainly., t is bus 

Crowds of people on the sideWalk. A On the side... 

walk and on the corners there were people. 

Q Sure there were a lot of people when the sootivg 

1.0 
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toOk place? 

Q, The moment y 

saw people that was walking. 

u heard the shots fired, did you see 

anybody run? A I saw lot of peop 

started to runt 

running. Ilverybody 

Q Was there any noise? A ,CertainlYt thy-w45 and 
hollering larder on every corner they was running. 

A 
Q1 Now, did, you see the man who  Tsai 

111 

shot? A No sir. 

•Q, There was a man shot before --

A I heard some one say, but I didn't,. 

YR. ROSENBIMG:: - That is al 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. MEDALI1.1: 

Q, How long do you know Ostrans 

know him/ 

Q, How long d you know him? A H 

Max Ostransky? 

Q .Yes. A About five years. 

Q, Know him well? A Yes, sir. 

What is your business! ••A Cook. 

(I Were you working at the time this 
• _ 

curred? A If I am working? 

did Ile fall do 

Want to stay and lo0 

How long 

w long know Mr, 

sbooting.00,-

That.is what I amked-him AL f I am working at the 

time wben the shooting was, 

Q Yes. A Certainly, yes. 

Q There? A 15? Grand Street, by Mr. Goldstein. 

Q As a cook? A Yes, cook and waiter., 

."-NSISMINIK14 



you say or waiter", When i:.aàked YOU abdut 

Go1dstein A There I was a cook. 

You were a col*? A 'Yes,' 

. You were hot a waiter there? 

How long had you _been working there? work-

ing at that plce since thelast six Years, but only in the - 

winter time. In the summer time, I go away  the count 

Were you ever convicted of ,any crime, A o, sit. 

You know Ostransky well enough to see him very of-

dOn't you  A I used to meet him, certainly. 1 

How often did you meet hi A. sometimes once a 

the last year,,did you me 

A Not very often. 

the last year, before the 

Yes, during the year 19129 

some times when I went to work and I vent to a moTiug picture 

place on Rutgers Street, and I'suw.him, there. 

Q. Did you meet him there? IL I used to go .there ono* 



in a week, sometimes twice- a week• 

You went there because he was working there/ 

went home from work, and went in, to see a pi 

ct Where else would you meet him didn't Zest him 

in the street. I used, to go up in his brother's house. 

Would you meet him in his brother's house" ,A Not 

How often"? A I- used to meet him sometimes 

often, but some times there in the .house. 

Q About once in two wee.ks9 A When I come up i 

the day time he didn't was there. Of course, I couldn t 

stay there until eleven o'clock at night, befause I had to 

You used to meet Ilia once or twice a week a 

place or other, at one place or another place, A I Used 

to meet him about once a month in he house. 

No matter at what place; at some place, whether at 

home or in the moving picture place you  would meet him about 
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VI 

You are a good. friend of his' brotherT, 

m since the same 

'If you answer 

get through quickly'" 

Are you 

time 

Tess 

may questioni. Y or "Inos We will 

sir. 

good, friend. of his 'brother/ S. 

• Q Who were you with that evening when 

odburred, A With who I was/ 

(4, Isn't'that easy/ A • "9h, with whom 

A Yes sir. 

the shooting 

was? 

That is what I asked you? 

Q .nobody liras with you at that in 

Q You were all alone? A Yes, sir, 

Q How long had you been on that Corner" A 

ti 

that corner not long, because I just come 

the evening. 

Illuhday night' A Sunday. 

Q How long were you on the carnet! 

I was with weer/. 

Ito air. 

there. 

about ten minutes; that is all I was :there. 

was on 

It was in 

A was there 

Q, Ten minutes before anything happened" A go 

not before anything happened« was standing at the corner 

and locking at his face. That took three or four mirfutes. 

Q Before that, how long were you on the corner? 

A On the sane coiner' 

Q, Yes. A I didn't was on the same corners 

was on the other sides where his brother lived., 

Q Had you been there to Yisit his brother'?  

t I 

At the. 



It was Sundar) 

and Sunday I never work: 

You did not work that day' A Sunday I never work. 

Where had you been before you readhedlroome and 

Oh, where I had been before:. I was on Madison 

.BY 4R. MEDALIE: 

0, -What were 

enjoying ourselves. 

where, A 154 Madison Street. 

With wham were you? A. By the name 4 

q What were you doing.tlere? , A Vrekivas taXtPftig. there. 

'a tailor. .Then ,I Went out from there. 

Did you Say it Was a Hotel? 

You spent ..about an hour or two there, 

Yes, I spent more than an 141Our or two; 



You stayed there for thee ot_four bAnutes, just 

looking at Ostransky? 

And.somebodydid some shooting! Tee, si;r. 

Where did the shots come from, A The Shotsoame 

right in the corner. I was standing on the sidewalk, and 

shots came' about five foot away from me.. 

standing like 

straight, and the shots were coming this side (Indicating) 

At your righti-and-inl,ront of yoW' A On this 

side (Indicating), andr:turned oTer, and there was three shots 
t 

already. 

9, Was anybody besides the wman with Ostran-alw- s anding 

the gutter' A 

I didn't see nobody. 

And haw near the gutter was he A Very near. 

Right on the curb, wasn't heA Yes, very near. 

Did you notice whether anybdy was right 

the gutter' A No, sir. 

Q How many feet away were you from the defendant 

woman' Was the woman present/ (question withdraWn) 

Was the woman talking to this,defendnt.at the time you 

the ti.Lree shots, A -Yes, sir. 



Sure bout that? I heard 

Q Are you sure about that/ Are you sure about the 

statement that you m-,de that at the time you heard the 

shooting this defendant was talking to a woman,' 

Sure about that" A Yes, sir. 

Now, how far away were you from the defendant 

this woman  A It is from here to there (Indicating). 

ER. ROSEMBIMO: About how 

TAB FORMAN OF THE JURY: 

MR. ROSENBERG: I don t think that 

THE COURT: Yes, I think it is about 

Let us measure it and see who is right. 

(The dietano& Indicated is. meaeared, and 

one half feet) 

Q, Was this defendant facing you' A 

looking straight at the lady.' 

His back was tuned tO yoU? 

standing --• I was standing like that and he 

like that, on the side (Illustrating) 

Now, did you see two or three persons standing near 

the defendant' A Yes, sir. 

Q At the time that the shots were fired" A 141;s 'lir. 

Q Ihat were those persons doing! A Those that were 

A Tes sir. 

standing together' 

Yew. A I know they were talking 



• And wa.li your back o any part of the building 

Broome Street corner of Orchard' 

Broome Street. 

A •No, MY back: was toward 

ta What were you doing on that corner/ 

'same corner? Nothings I was ju 

to. his brother's. 

'On the 

t. coming*  I wanted to go up 

On what corner did this 

corner the shot  

ake place 
• 

q Yes.. A On Broome Stkee 

On what 

on Orcbard Street* 

Q Ilhat corner? There are four corners there! 

That is near Broome. 

Q - Towards Allen Street, Or towards .Ludlow Street' 

It was on Orchardilbetween Delancey and Broome but it 

vas 'right near Broome, but more to Allen street. 

• That is, it was on the corner of •00rb.ard and Broome' 

A Not .quite on the corner; .it WaS a little Ways from the 

corner.. 

But on the bloc); between Orchard and Allen Streetgli 

is that right* A That comes out between telancey and 

Broome. 

Q Delancey and Broome? A ' Yes, sir. 

Q, But on the corner of Orchard and Broome!A Yes, sir* 

And on the street towards. Allen Street* A Yea it 

was more to Allen street. 

Q You know how Broome Street rune Yea, si 

Q, , The first street is Allen, where the e te* ill; • 
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then Orchard and. the Ludlow? . 

119 

Q, Did this shooting take place nearer toward Allen 

Street or towards Ludlow?. A Yes, it was more to Allen 

Street. 

Q

 

More to Allen. A More to Allen, yes sir. 

Q Now, here are the corners (Eihibiting. paper to, 

witness). Here is Orchard4 hare is Allen, here is Ludlow, 

• this is Broome gtreet. Now, on that corner 

shooting' A This is Orchard? 

Yes, and this is 411en and this is 

at what corner did you see the shooting? 

ton2 

did you see the 

•LudloWe N 

Where is Riving. 

Q, This is Delancey, and!BATington- s over here. 

(Indicating on paper) . A- This is Broome street?. 

Q T his is Broome Street, right here? A And this is 

Alien? 

Q This is Broome Street, this is Allen? A. And this 

is Orchard' 

q This is Orchard" A And. thisis Delancey? 

q Yes, this is Delancey? A It was about•that part -

(Indicating on paper) 
and 

Q This is the •sidewaik A Yes this is Broome Strad 

Allen and Broome. 

Street" 

Allen, Orchard, Ludlow" 

- 
Yes. A There (Indicating) at ng) 



kt•-4 

Q, 

You say 

Not on the sidewalk? 

Out in the. street? A 

occurred 

Do you know what business 

on Ordhard Street? 

A. No, sir. 

Y sir. 

s on that corner? 

On the same corner there is a saloon there. 

3.20  -

Tips sir. 

The saloon 

=OAS in Orchard Street. There i a restaurant  in the back:* 

Where did this defendant' brother. live? 

Orchard Street. 

q 85 Orchard? A Yes, sir. 

Was this shooting on the same side 

where the defendant's brother lived? A 

the other corner. 

Q I. don't mean on the Other corner, but on the sape 

side of the street/ A You mean On Orchard Street' 

A Yes, 

Yes 

of the stree 

No sir; that is on 

On Orchard Street) the ftme Side, that is gOing--

on this side. 

The left band side coming from Grand Street? 

sir. 

Left hand side? .A Yes,. sir. 

Is that right/ A Yes, sir. 

Now, 85 Ordhard Street is between Grand and Broome? 

Grandand Broome, yes, sir. 

Q And how many houses frOm the corner of Ordhard and 

Broome is 850 A The first house. 

Q It is a corner hous e first bOUe, yes sir. 



How pal* times have you been in that bousil 

have been there I.Can't tell exactly 'but I 

know I was there a couple of times, pure. 

building? 

Q. 

there a saloon down stairs? A 

Yes? A Yes, sir. 

In this same 

Q Now, the fiigtaId not take place near th4t 

No, in the other Saloon. 

Q In the other side, across the street? 

aloce 

Yes  

That is, if the brother lives on this side of the 

street, the fight took place over hare (indicating 'cn paper)/ 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Sure about that A Yesi of that I am sure. 

. (4 What business is across the street from that, from . 

the fight, from where the fight took lace A On the other 

side there is a cigar store. 

•Q And the fight did not take place near the cigar 

store? A No, it more was On this side.; The cigar 

store is on the other side between Ludlow--

q Do you know where KupPerman's Moving Picture Rohm', 

on Broome Street' A I know there is a moving icture 

but I never go in there. 

Q Between.Orchard and Ludic) 

and Vieox. 

• 14 is there any between Orchard and Win A Otwee* 



did you see anybody discharge a re*olTsr 

You only heard the shots 

)id you see any fire' A When I just hoard t 

started to run away. 

•(4, Running away from whsre, the shooting took plaseand  

YesA ; they was hollering "murder) murder". 

Now many shots were fired?, A Three shots; there 

was one after the other, bing, bing, binge 

At the time you heard the shooting, your. eyes were 

fixed on the defendant? A 

three shots I turned over. 

But before you heard the three shots, what were yo 

I was looking at his facto. 

What were you doing when you heard the first 

I turned over, and I seen people--



lkere:your eyes fiXod on the defendant at,tha tiMi 

ythatyou'board the first sho (No answiir). 

Were your eyes fixed On the defende..&6111 Were You 

trig fl the defendant when you beard the first sflotio 

Yes, sir., 

can't tell what was behind the 

bicatize. I didn! 

How close was this defendant 

time the Shooting took place, A 

Yes, how closed) A The lady was fac 

on one side wza a man, and a# the other side was a xfln. 

Q How far away9 A But the. girl was TsrY near bt*. 

Q. Very near thedefendant/ At Yes. 5ir. 

Haw far from the defendant were the three men' 

A The three men were a little bit so (Illustrating) 'but the 

Were there any persons 'behind 

Yes. A I can't tell. 

Did you notice whether any persons were standing 

near any of the buildings on Orchard Street' A Orchard" 



Orchard and. Bro me, 

Street, whether there were any persons standing .therel 

No, sir, I can't say that. 

May it appear, your Honor, what 

he indicated on the diagram your Honor drew' 

Yes, he indicated tlat it toot pla 

or Orchard Street, on the southerly -side of Orchard 

Street, on the southwesterly side of Orchard Street. 

Q Will you mark again where yo u saw it' This t 

THT1 COURT: As indicated by a red dot, it appears 

according to this witness's testimony, that the fight t 

place on the highway, on Orchard Street, on the south-

westerly side of Orchard and Broome.. 

.diagram where the defend'antls brother 

(Witness marks on diagram) 



Q Where did be defendant rue- 'Where Aid h 

OStrandky? 

q Yes. A— After that shooting? 

At the time the shooting occurred, what did he A 

can't tells because everybody started to run, and I 

Q Where did you run to?. A, To GIluki Street. 

Q To Grand Street'? A Yes,' sir, 

You ran to Grand Street/ 

When did you come back?' A Come back? 

backs but I meet his brother. 

You went down to Grand A Yes, sir. 

Q There did you go' A Pram Grand Street, 

from Grand I went in Essex Street. 

What did you do there? A Nothing, 

away, arid then I went from Essex through Rutgers 

Q You just kept on walking? A Yea, sir. 

Q And what did you do in Rutgers Street' 

Prom Rutgers Street I went to Madison Street, and I 
* 

meet a friend of mine. 

Then what did you and your friend do? A 

We. went in a lunch room, corner of Madison and Rutgers 

we sit down there, a lunch roam and restaurant , and we sit 

down, and we have coffee, and / told him'there:Was a Shooting 



corner. 

Then, whet did you get back. 

come back aboutveleven o' clock. 

•Eleven o'clock a night? 

That was the time the defendant was arrest 

Yes, sir: 

him? A 

Willwere, present when he was arrested? 

Were you there the time the detectives arrested 

No sir. 

Did you know at that time that the detectives had 

arrested him?- A. Yea, I heard that in the Morning. and 

- heard that in the evening., 

Q In the evening, I am talking about? A Yes 

• At eleven o clock,that. night 7ou heard that 

been arrested? A Yes, sir. 

q For the shoOtingl- A Yersi 

• Q And you knew, of course, that he. had not 

Shooting? A. lhat.he--

•Q You knew he was arrested f r:doing something he did 

not dO? A Yes, sir. 

Q 'He was arrested that evening? A 11.88, 8 

. you are sure he did not do .the Shooting/ AY s 4-0X, 

-Q

 

And you remember the facts that evening the:wray.y04-

remember them now  A Yes, sir. 

Q Now, did you go to the 'police station an d teU the 

detectives *hat you knew about.itl A No, sir, I nev wtnt 
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there.. 

q Did you go the. next day to the police court where 

you knew Ostransky was taken! A o, sir. 

Q, You knew there was to be a hearing before the Magis." 

trate in the Police Court didn t you. A Yes, I heard it, 

)id you offer to give infprmation to -the authorities 

about this shooting! A Yes, sir, I eaid to his brother) 

"In case you need ma, I will be there". 

Q So, that it was his brother that you told about that' 

A Yes,. sir. 

Q Nobddy else! A No, sir. 

Q You did not attempt to tell the police about it, 

A AO, sir. 

q You did not tell the Magistrate about it! A Jo sir. 

q You didn't notify the Assistant District Attorney 

in the Mssex Market Court) where the case came .up? A No sir. 

Q Though you knew it was coming up there! A I heard it 

was coming up. 

Q You were interested enough in the defendant to try 

to do what you could for him, weren't you') A I was not so 

interested in that. 

Q You knew him five years! A Yes, sir. 

Q And you know a charge of shooting 'a rakm with the , 

intention of killing him was made against him' Yes, sir. . 

Q of shooting two  men! on knew that, -did& t you, 

A Yes, sir. 



And you knew there were such charges again et him at 

that time  It was the talk of the neigWrhood wasn't it? 

Knowing 1 that, you kept 

you kept away from the Magistrate, ezd yo u ke 

THE COURT: ObjectiOni overruled. 

MB. ROSEBERG: Hxception. It involves more than 

THE CO URT: Answer the question. 

I never went to the police, and I never was arrested sines 

lam not asking about your troubles. 

about the defendant's troubleSs and wha 

that is what I am answering, because I didn t"mant t 

You didn't want to mix in -it? A. 

questions. If I am asking you a question, and you think o: 

something else, you will say something else.that is not'an 

answer to the question.Yes, 'sir. 

Now, you did not ant to mix Up 



Yet you knew.the defendrOlt five year A Yes sir. 

You, used to meet him about onse a week? A Y s sir. 

You were a very good friend of his brother s, 

Yes, sir. 

Q And yet you did not want to be mixed up in the case' 

Yes, sir. 

Q Though you knew he was innocent; is, that right' 

Yes, sir. 

Q When did you first talk to his lawyer about thie 

ca e to Mr. Rosenberg, his attorneY,A Mt Rosenberg 

Yes. A Never. 

Q This is the first time, A .Yes,. sir. 

He had not seen you before?A No, sir. 

You had not been to his 'office No s 

Q Never said a word to him about the case before, 

When had you first spoken to Mr. Wittier, who was .his lawyer 

in the police court? A I didn't speak to hint at all. 

Q You knew he had a lawyer in the olice court' 

.41, Eby sir. 

q Did you try to find out? A rwas bully myself; 

was trying to make a living for mysel 

Q, Didn't you think his liberty, being charged with two 

serious crimes, was important enough for you to try to find 

out something? A Well, I was asking his brother 4 couple or 



Q That you saw the 

Q And that the defendant0A-ax:Ostranskys did- not 

A Yes, sir. 

You told that to his brother' A Tee. 

Vihat is his brother's. 

Hyman Ostransky, A Yes, sir. 

How soon after the shooting did You tell it 

About a week or eight or 

Do you mean to say that you did n 

eight,or nine days after the shooting? 

but I didn't tell him about nothing. 

Q, So, for eight or nine dam though 

Ostransky, this defendant's brother, wh 

of yours, you made no mention at all of tb 

nine days 

Hyman Ostransky, of course, mentioned to you th-

fact that the brother of Max OstranskY was charged vath 

shooting two people, didn't he,- ,A, No, he didn't told Iva 



his brother W6,s. charged with shooting two, people! 

No, sir, he didn't told me at all. 

Never said a word to you about it, A 

Q ,So for a week or ten days neither 

cussed the case? A: Yes. 

Q Though you met him several times that week' 

I met him that week about three 

And yet you never said a word to hiA No sir. 

And he never said a word to you 

Though you were very good friends, A ye 

And though he knew you knew his brother for tivs 

A Yee, sir. 

And sos about ten days aster this happenedi. Hyman 

-astransky told you about it; is that right? A Yes ,sir. 
Q He told you hisbrother was charged with shooting 

som.ebody? A Yes,_ 

4 Was that Sr'inIztirst told him about the case, 

That was the time, yes, 

,Q Did you tken tell him everything that 

this jury to-day' A Yes, sir, • I told him that I was in the 

corner, and I saw it, the same' thing, yes, s 

Did you explain to him why you had said nothing to 

hint for the past ten days, though he had met you three. times' 
4—



d dnitt explain it. 

Q Be didn't even aisk - I didn t explain it. 

Q 8o, you just told him .what you could testify to; 

that right, A I told him thkt in 

be there• _ . - 

IQ, And that was the only timeyou discussed the  -ease wilax 

him? A Yes, sir. 

(1 And from that time, that is, about the 18th of Vc-

cetber, down to to-day , you talked over the case with nob 

at all; is that right? A (No answer) 

. What are you doubtful about? The dat 

A •Yes, I talked with peoPlc. 

Q Beginning with the 18th of December, you began Ato 

talk to people' A Later. 

dy 

Q Then you told everybody what you knew about the saes' 

A Not everybody. 

q Who did you tell? A Some people Imoet, and -they 

say so and so, do you know about that, nd I answerete it. 

Q Then you were willing tO be in the ease after his 

brother had spoken to you? A 'Yes, sir, 

Q But until his brother had spoken 

to keep out of the case* A Yes, sir. 

Q Though you were an eye witness, and though YaU 

knew that a man's liberty might depend on your testimony, 

you wanted 

. though you knew that a friend's liberty might depond 01s, Your 

• ••• 



. testimony? A 

MR. ItEDALIE: That te all. 

BY TEE COURT: 

At the time that you heard the sbooting, 

take notice of the defendant's hand 

. You did not? A 

q Did you see any man fall to the ground, 

time the shooting 

t h e ground? A W 

RBI DIRECT XXAMINATION BY R. ROSENBERG: 

At the time of the shooting, y 

defendant? A Yes, sir. 

Did you see his hands at that time? 

TEE CO URT: He said he did not. 

Did you have him in full view?Do you understand . 

my question? A Yes. 

s Could you see his face? A Yerl* 

Q, When you heard the shooting did you see the dei. 

fendant's face? A Yes, sir, 

Did you see his body? 

Did you see his arms? A I saw his bands. Is 

was standing this way (Illustrating); h had an oversogi: 



and he was so standing. 

Men the shooting took place, his ha 

his pockets A I couldn't see the pocket 

ludy was in the front. 

BY THE COURT: 

Could you .see his hands, 

Could you „see his arms' A Toe, s 

Sure you saw his arme 

That is, from the shoulder blade to the 

dn't tell to the elbow, but I saw the first part 

You saw him when the shooting took place, dithi't 

You saW his face, A Yes. 

You were facing him) and he was facing you) the 

same as you and I are now, img you were looking at 40* an 

stands sideways 



WS on Or4ard Street, 

q. -Re was on Orchard 

was he looking towards 

The defendant A 
. Across the street: 

That Wb.S towards -- vas that looking towardi.LUdlow 

Was that looking towards. Ludlow Street'? A Who 

was looking, 

Q When you say the defendant was talking to the gir 

and he was looking, which way was he looking, toward Allen 

Street, or toward Ludlow Street, A On the other side,'to 

He has answered.: 

_looking toward Ludlow, A 

Then he was on Orchard Street; sthat right" 

Yes, sir, . 

Q And his face was to 



-was he when the shooting took l ,many he was frcua 

the sOting _place? • 

Q Row many feet from :the corner Of 11 opite and Orshard 

Street was the defendant when you heard the hotst Troat 

Where you are to whereA About five feet. 

Q Sure Of th.410.A On the corner, yes. 

(4, And the position Which the defendant IMO in at the 

time , you could seeboth of his arms? Could you see both Of 

his arms? A I saw only just the 

BY TRIE COURT: 

One arms or both? A This arm, I saw all right 

IrgticEting right arm) 

• The right arm'? A Yes: Of Course, ,the mem was 

standing on the other side, but this one I only saw a little 

(Indicating) 

BY IC krEDALIN: 

Q; That ist the 1 (et? A Yes 

Q You could not see - all of the left arm? A No sir. 

BY THE COURT: 

At the very time  that you heard the shooting 'did 

you see any man, or men„ 033 person pass the defendant and the 

woman, when you heard the shooting A Yes, at the same 

time as the shot they were walking up ai4 down. 

Q Did you. see anybody pa poison pasta the diti• 



On the sidewalk? 

• yes.• They was walking. 

Q At the time that you heard the shoot 

time of the shooting, did any person pass by' 

same minute, 

heard the shooting? At the time'you,heard 

there any person between you .and the 

knowthats but they was walking between. 

Q When you heard the shootings was anybpdr 

They we walking up and down. There was the 

and I was on the corner (Indicating) 

q Did anybody Pass the defendant at the time that yo u 

heard the shooting? A I can't tell you exactly 

passed the defendant but I know there was walking 

Q When the shooting happened, did 

THE COURT: He said note. 

Did you see the Smoke?  A Smokes 

Where was the smOke when the shooting 

A The smoke was right on this corner, so. 



Wayfrom the corner 

Was th_e defendant at the plaorie wheat) You .saw th 

• Did you see any smoke on that night 

On the corner. 

You took notice of that' 

smoke, but no fire. 

When did you notice the smoke' When you were 

Nel I was standing like'tha 

Wa8 here. (Illustrating) The shooting .was 

when I turned there was a little smoke.-

'Do you know whether the smoke came from a reVolyer,.. 

or a cigarette'? A I heard a Shot, but I don't know where 

the smoke came from. 

Q And you  saw no person discharge a revolver that 

night? A No, eir. 

Q Did you 'see anybody frith before the ellbts wore-

Not but there 'Was running lots of people. after the 

Immediately otter .the eh.ots were Si heard, did you. 

see people running? At the Moment the shots were f4re4 did 



any one runningA Lots of people started,to run. 

And it was at the corner that the  people were run—- 

, orty.9u,•com&f.4 Orchard Str.eet from Or •• 

Orchard.  Street, from ,Grand:. towards: Broome, 

the 5.treet".„is j35, *here .the (4141fendant 

coming' up -grchard ,strApt othe ,right .side 

a et ....r9,14;Oren 

• 44.7.,Q; p.oaling,up:1,,from: Grand Street toward 3rotete 

A It i on tale -left 14441ert.:, 

5Q Wow, then, where did the Shooting take place with. 

.respect to the place where hedekendant lived': The house he 

lived inRoiottig4 t4e. corn fk#t 1.0 A .7.t$13) sir, 

t was on the corner of 731'6011e, and. Orchard; is tha 

ghtA':That is on-Orcharde. 

„1/43e,rp -dUi, the ishooting „tak 

(No answer) 

BY TIM COD:AT: 

Did it take place on the left hand .Bi41 or Orchard 

Street,, or on the right hand ore, , ,on the; left 

How many feet from the curb.* froni the sidewalk 

left etcte'91. Orob*rd Otreet, About four foot. 

Q Lett side, -going  in the direction of Ortaid Street! 



On the night of the, 

that you saw the shoOting?. A 

Aho did you tell, 

Where! A Right here. 

Outside the Court room, A 

Mr. Rosenberg asked yoU-What you knew 

vascit, and you told him' A That is what I told him. 

That is the first time you saw r. ROeenbei 

the defendant herein 

being first 4uly sworn, testified 

DIRECT EXIMINATION BY MR. ROSENBARG: 

lihut is your name? A Ma k Ostran 

here do you live? A$5 Orchard Street 

How old are you'? A. TwontY4'four. 



• 

you live 5 Orchard Street. 

71What corner is. that on or is i 

On the corner. 

Q With respect t 

It is on the West side corner. 

Q-

 

The westside. of what? A 

Q With the south side of Broome?,-

Q It is the southwest corner you .,iive; 

root? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did you, on the 8th ,day of :December, 

revolver in your possession? Did you, "yes", 

A • Nothing like that. 

What? A No. 

,Q. Did you on that day, the. 8th day of December, 

shoot Harry Salkin? A Nt). 

Q Did you? A NO. 

Can't you talk? A No, I said., 

Q Did you on that day, in the evening, at abou 

thirty at night, with a revolver or pistol in your.hand 

discharge it and isb.00t Harry 5a1kin1 A No. 

Q Did you assault or strike Harry Sallin on that °vein-

ing? _A No. 

Q Do you know Harry• Salkin? Yes 

Q Did you have any feeling against hi'? A No. 

Q Any bad feeling? A Alway's a good friend of min 

Q Was he fri.endly towards you? A All the timel 

• 



Is that all? I mean before the shooting 

December 8th? A About a couple of months. 

Sure of that? A Yes, sir. 

Were you bad friends -with him at any time d 

two months, or any time that you knew him, before De 

A Was always on good terms with. him. 

him„ aft er December 8th? • 

Did you ever have any quarrel with him? A Neet, did. 

,  Or any right with him? 

Now, do you remember offerirg... did you over have 

drinks with him, after? A Yes, I met him after tror 

After the ball? A I met him on Broome and Orchard. 

It was developed yesterday that you had a ball under 

name of Young Sharkey; is that it? - 

'Tell us, did you offer to 

one of them short tickets. That 



A coMplimdilt-ter' 

Max, if - I hav e 

When was your ball? A November 29th. 

November 29th, 1912? A - Yes, 

run under the name 

Young Sharkey ? A Young Sharkey.', 

Young Sharkey Association? A Yes, 

And where was the ball? A On Grand, near Al 

Granicl Manhattan Hall. 

Q, Having given Harry Salkin 

• Did you seehim after Cad ball? A. Yes, 

Did you have any fight with him et quarrel-bedause 

he did not come to theball? A I met him and he said 

"Pretty ,good Ham' 

' Then he said, "come on in, we will have, a drink 

in Broome and Orchard and had a drink, and we Shook hands an 

Q. Did you tell him why yoU thought hd did 

the ball, because he was busted? 



.$haricey,.J . didn't have no mOneyLfl.... 1. said.,. "That 

it,you will be up, the :next time 

Is tha.t all that happened? • A.. Yes, sir. 

Did. you Spiv him after 'that?: 

More .than .coupl 

Did you .ever have  any quarrel with him at .aror .time?: 

Q, Where were you arrested?:' -Up in my hout!e *Isere 

live, Orchard and Broome. 

85 Orchard Street? A 85 Orchard Street. 

It was on Sunday ,night 

é you home? A.Certainly. 

arrested you do You remenber 

was it? A policeman? 

Q, And you were taken them to what hospi al? 

And who did you see at Gouverneur 

They took me up there and brought ine- over to this fellow, 

Harry Salk-in, and they woke him up, and they asked him *did 



this fellow shot 

What else di d he say? 

Q Did he say  anything'. else besides "no". 

"Hello, 'Sharkey", and I. asked' him:. What 

I said "they have 'got hie for shooting you".  

you didn't Shoot me." 

Did they ask him who '.did shoot him? -•.A. 

Q What did he say? A He said, ,"No• 

Q Didn't the police then ask Harry .Who 

He said, "I didn't see it, and I don t 

He said, "That al n t * the fellow". He ai 

'Oth4skt saint the man". That is what be, to 

said "That aint the man that shot me". 

q Did he say- at that time an7thing 

turn over on his back and say, °I will- get 

or, "I will see about it in the morning, 

Q Sure of that ? A Yes, sir. 

Did you have anything to do with the shooting? 

No., sir'. 

q This shooting took place about seven thirty on the 

night of Dememb-er 8th, 1912, '  on the corner of Broome 
atabout the corner of Broome and Orchard Street-. VTere you jr 

that neighborhood at about that time? A I happened to pass. 



c9rner, or near the corner at that 

he corr, just on Broome 

one of my, friends, 'a lady

Waat was her name? A couldn 

She knows me from far away. 

her I would recognize her, She Illet me 

"What is the matter with your head,  

"some girl kissed me", like 

Just in a joke. 

You said some girl kissed you? A Yes, sir. 

Well, what happened then? A Then she spoke to me 

for about two minutes, and / heard a.couple of shots coming 

Were you talking to the girl a,t the 

I spoke to the girl -about a minute and a half or two 

minutes I spoke to the girl. 

May it have been longer than two minutes that you 

were speaking to the girl? A 119, just about two minutes. 

Q While you were talking to the gal, dia.you sec Harry 

Salkin pass? A There were a copple of feluwsthere, three* 

on the corner, in the midille of the gutter. 

Q Three or four fellows were in th,e- middle .of the gut 



Was.. it Shapiro, who .was on. the_ stand? 

Was it .Harry .Yes, 

Q,'.. -And somebo...* .61.sei..-is',that right?. 

And they were standing in the. gutter. 

Q,. Did you shoot them at that tithe? A : 

Q Did. you have a. pistol in your hand.? 

Q Did you hear the shooting? A I heard.. the shots. 

ct Where did the shooting come from, if you Ahoy? 

A When I spoke to this girl, about a minute or two,. 'because 

/ didn't pay no attention to talk to the girl because 

was all bandaged up, and I heard a copple of shots coming of. 

Why di d you run? A I was all excited and I 'didn't 

feel very well and I was afraid myself, and I run in the 

saloon, because I thought he would shoot me again; he out me 

and shot me, and might do, anything, and I run in Orchard and. 

Broome, Morris Gokdberg s place. 

Were you the, only -person on thatcorner that night a, 

the time of the shooting? ' A No there was Barry. Salkin 



and a couple of more fellows on the corner; it w 

crowded. 

Q Were there many people on Broome Street 

and Orchard? A Certainly. 

Q At the time . Of the shooting? Before t 

• were there many people? A Certainly, people pass ng 

by, and a couple of fellows on the, corner, and four of them 

were here (Indicating) and, they were all separated, you know. 

Q d you have any fellows with you that nigh,t? 

I was there, and the girl, and a couple of fellows was 

there v talking to one another, but I didn't take no attention 

to the talk. I didn't have nobody with me. I was going 

down from Seventh Street, supposed to meet my girl and I 

happened to pass on Broome and Orchard. 

Q Weren't you in the saloon before? A No. 

Q, Shapiro said you came out of the saloon? A 

just passed through Orchard Street, and on the corner, 

six or seven feet away, I happened to pee this girl; and she 

said, "What is the matter with you". I swtd, "I said., h, 

nothing, I got kissed by my girl", and I kept on, and all of 

of shots, and I iun, and everybody 

run, and this girl disappeared. She hollered,"Murder", and. 



Bow many was everjbody 

gb.t een there on the corner. 

Q, Vias there more than that? here •wai PeoPie 

Did you see the mean fall? A 

id you see Harry Siakin fall? Did you? 

Did you see the man who did the shooting? 

D3.d you have art/thing -- did you know who 

Are you sure of that? 

And do I understand you ran 'Oecause .you thought they, 

were going to shoot -you? A .Certainly; I was all cut up, 

and I was excited 'Myself, so I. thought got up about  one 

o'clock, and that happened about eight o'clock' so I 

afraid, so I run in the saloon. The saoon was .on the 

Did anybody else run in the saloon? 

ore fellows certainly. 

Q At the time you were arrested, that 

Q. Had you gone to work that •day -a 

go about one o'clock,. or two o'clock. 

On this particular Sunday, December 8th, 



Did you work that day? A. No, I got up in the morn 

ing abouty—

Q Come down to about twelve or one o'clock. Something 

happened about one otclOokf 

You were cut; is that right?' 

And you were taken to the hospital? A (No answer) 

You had how many stitches? A I was taken to the 

police station; and they bandaged me up, .gave me ten stitched, 

nine or ten. 

The two gentlemen who were on the 

How long had you worked for them? 

a year and a month, or so. 

Before you worked for them, who did. you work 

worked for Schwartz Brothers. 

Q How long did. you -work or; Schwartz Brotb.ers 

A About five years, five or six years-s five years. and 



.And what were you doing :there? 

cigar maker. 

Cigar maker? .yeo, 

Sure' of that? A' 

* During all of that time, w eredid you ii 

did you live? A My brother and Ivor s 

85 Orchard Street. 

• Q Before Schwartz Brothers, for whom did 

A / am here about nine years in this country. 

on West Broadway, by Josephson; I worked for him about five 

or six months. Then I worked in Ninety-ninth Street,: 

I happened- to get the job at Schwartz Brothers and. I worked 

there about five years. Then I worked here about a year. 

,CROSS EXAMINATION BY laR. 

Is there sUch a thing as the :Young Sharkey 

Q But you advertised a ball as the Young Sharkey 

There is no such thing. How long have you 

been doing that kind of thing? A Once. 

4% What is that? A That is the only time. 

That is the first time you .did it? A yes, 

How long before this shooting did that ball occur 



re the shooting? 

yes. A AboUt. six or seven weeks. 

Do you remember the date?  A. :Yes, air'. 

Waat was the date? A No4ember 29th. 

a little over a week, before the shooting, 

couldn't tell you. 

Did, you say November 29th? That wa 

It was the day before Thanksgiving? 

Yes, I guess the day before.Thanksgiving. 

That was not six weeks before was it? A Well's 

How long before Thankviving ,had you. been advertis-

ng this ball? A For about a couple of weeks. 

Two weeks? A A couple of Weeks. • 

Three weeks? A Three or four Weeks. 

About a month? A Yes,. sir. 

There were no other In.exabers in the Association except 

Q So that you had t6 do all the 

You had to advance ,the money f 



a friend of In.ine, 

said., "you can have that hall to run a little ball foeyoU and 

your friends". I didn't- exactly make a ball to make 

/t was not exactly a ball? A 

this ball for making money, but I made :it for a couple of 

t make• exact' 

'Who were your friends for whom you were making the 

For my lady friend, my brothers and sisters and so 

• 
Do you mean you were doing it for their personal 

Q, And not for profit? - A Not e. 

Q, But you took care of the selling of the 

I didn't have no 'tickets .10 a,11. 

You advertised it? A I had just  plain 

And you attened to those? A That 

Didn't you have these card board signs?' 

put them in saloon windows? A 

Stick them on telegraph poles? A 

You did that? A Yes, sir. 

You had somebody to do it for you? 

of mine. A man always has a, friend of his to hel 

Q You asked various stand, keepers to come 0 the ball? 



Didn't you? A 

Didn't yoU, leave your throw-aways a 

water stands? 

Are you. sure of that? A Yes, Si r. -

Q, With whom did you leave your .throw-away 

,various soda 

• Yes. A To  personal fri,snds. 

Q, Did. you give them only to personal friends? 

A , Well, I give it to a fellow if I'meet a friend of mi 

and I am talking to him, I wouldn't give him a throw 

I would just give it wi3.1.ing to 

id you distribute them in sal.00n A What is that? 

You gave your throwaways in Saloons?  A 

Only friend's you met? A Yes sir. 

nd are you sure you did not leave them on soda water 

Didn't you ask stand keepers 

Didn't you ask people whs o owned gambling houses• 

come to your ball? A I aint no gambler* 

Q, Didn't you tell them they would have to come to 



ball, or„there would be trotibl 

You limtt.ed yourself altogether to your personal 

- friends? A Yes , s ir. 

Q ; And you hoped in that way to have a successful ball? 

No, just have my friends up there. 

You were willing to lose money on'it? A Yes. 

Did you have money to lose? -.A I work all the time 

for a living, and I had a couple of dollars wit•h, m I didn't 

exactly make a ball to make money. 

But to increase your, popularity? A What is it?. 

To make yourself more popular? 

Q That was the idea? A Certainly.. 

Q When you were giving the throw-aways out, 

people you were Jack Zelig s successor? 

Yea. A I heard about Jack Zelig, and 

about him, but I never spoke to the man. 

Is that all you knew about him? A Yes, sir. 

Somebody cut you atone o'clock; is that right? 



Salkin did no t do it? 

Charles Shapiro did not do it 

MR. ROSENBERG: I object to that. 

THE CODRT: The obj ection !is overruled. 

Q Did he do it? A No, sir. 

q tad Sam Shapiro do it? A 

• Q Did you know Charles. and .Sam. 

Q Did they attend your 'ball? 'A No. 

Did you notice whether Manes Shapiro laughed r. 

when you made the remark that your girl •kissed you?. 'A, 

they'w ere there at the time. 

• Q, Did you notice whether he, waslaughing when you 

 statement? A ' • No • I .clidnit notice it. 

'Did you notice whether Salkin .1aUghect?' 

didn't pay no attention. 

q Did you notice whether or not Salkin turned his 

back towards you when you made t.litt..t :.s.tat.eraen 

MR. ROSENBERd: I oh ject 



said it .waS nobody ..connected, with thiti 

• 
Do not discuss  this case 

permit any person to:. talk to you ahout 

e4re8s any opinion as to the guilt or . , 

defendant Until the case 

•a sustained. (To the 

among yourselves 

nor fOikin nor 

nnocenCe of the 

We will take a recess until Two o'clock. 

(The Court accordingly took a recess 

RECESS. 

MAX OSTR ANST Y, the defendant, resumes 

CROSS ECCARITINATION CONTINUED: BY 

Where had you come from at 

corner where the shooting occurred? A 

That were you doing there? 

You had an appointment "with her? 

hen had you made that 'appointment? A On 

day; is that right? A Yes, sir. 

Q For what time was your appointment? A Pro 

from seven until eight. 



rcim 'seven • 

And you met her at seven o'clock? 

dAd.. not meet 

Q, Now, then*, you Made an appoin men. 

you told us before that it was_,;your nteior 

Sunday, and the only thing 'that, Prevented you from wcirkin 

was your getting' sta.bbed? A Yes sir. 

Q Now, it is not so that you intended to work on 

Sundays, is it? A Certainly, I viaetto meet her there at supper 

hour, between seven and. eight. 

Q That is your explanation? A Yes, 

As a matter of fact between seven and eight a moving 

picture house on a Sunday night does most of the business, 

Q, And what were you doing intending'to 1çep away from 

• your business at the busiest hour .of that da 

between six and • seven, it aint so croWded as between eight and 

rid eight, all 

immediately after supper; isn't thstt so. 

m your businse$ 



at the buSieSt .hour? 

,'.13ut seven to eight is the busiest hour 

between eight. and nine. 

But you just said seven 

busiest hour? People begin to come in betweez 

eight? A yestair. 

That is the time that ylu.„ as an usher_ 

of your work? A Certainly. 

And yet you made an engagement to 'keep away, during: 

the  busiest hour,—.rid yet you want us to believe thatozi 

her in her house 

house. 

d not have come down until after eight? 

other words,. you were going to .be away:the 

busiest hour, and you knew you were going to be away the busiest 

hour of the busiest day of the week? A Well,  I had to take 

As a matter of fadt, if you were working, ivould you 

be through with your supper before seven o'clock, to getba.ck 

Don't you need to be in the place before seven. • 
o'clock? A Certainly; as soon as. get through with lily 



Ordinarily, when do You take Your supper? 

is according to the crowd. 

q The crowd begins to come at seven, doesn'l 

Well, if it is a nice day  they don 

about nine o'clock, if it is a nice evening. 

Do you mean to tell us the crowd does not come to a 

moving picture show until nine o'clock? A Certainly. 

Q But you said before the crowd begins to come between 

seven and eight. Now, that is true„, isn't it? A. _Certainly. 

Most of the crowd comes between those hours? Ayes sir, 

YoU made an appointment for that, busy .hour several 

days inadvance, so you knew you did not intend to viwk that 

ct Do you mean to say it was your intention to wot that 

when you hhd already arranged to stay away the busiest, 

hour of that day? A Well, I have been working just the 

and I had to take.my supper hour, 4nd awry time woUld'titks 

my supper hour, twice a Wek I used tb met in  lady ri 

meet her and go down to the moving picture house. 

Why did you select Sunday night, the buoi 

of the week? A I just .7/43..ked over tuul, sok her idler 

work; as coon as I get through work I take 1 or ho 

a matter of fact, you did ,npt; hays n: 
appointzat, did you? A I certain37 



o your statemen 

of course.. 

supper at about six 

'o'clock, don't you? A Around that t,ime°. 
_ 

So as to get back to the place not later than seven 

I had a little bite; I used tia walk in" the delicatessen 

store and have a bite, and walk over and see iiy lady friend. 

Q, Never mind your lady friend. It is your busineso 

to get to your place not later than s even o'clock, 

so as to be ready for the crown, and zet on the. busiest night 

of the week, you had made arrangements for the busiest. hour? 

You said, "yes"? Yes. 

You walked from Seventh street 

like to walk. r don't Wm to ado.  

Q So, it was only , itlent that .iOU haq4ened to 

on that corner? A I livre rigbt On that:. *armor, aM 



always 'pass through that confer'. because I come down 

Orchard Street and Seventh Street, and. ,me-et 

u meet. her at Orchard  and 'Broome? A Seventh 

You did not go to Orchard lc Broome for th purpose 

of meeting her, did you? A 

Q Then why did you go there? A WeU, I lived there. 

CI, To go to your work, was it necessary for you to go 

where you lived? I always pasa through that block. 

Q So, you were just on your way down when thiJ3 thing 

happ filed? A Yes, sir'. 
And had you come from any house, or any store? 

A My lady friends 94fiouse. 

Q In other .7 rds, no t finding her at Seventh Street, 

you went to visit her; is that right? A Yes sir. 

And did you visit her? A 11 

liter* 'What 'bald 

that Corner, 



Q, And you stopped, didn 

with a lady friend. 

Q. And you don't know her n.ame'? No, T couldn't 

Q You never knew her na,me did you9 

know her name. I can recognize her ifi see her. 

Q She knew your name9 A Well, it is dy 

knows me, and I don't know theme 

Q. She said, ',Sharkey, what is the m tter .with your face?" 

that is what she said? 

funny ever3r1  

well enough to call you .by your,  

Max; that A'S-my right n ame • 

•Q, Did she call you Max? A To,eh didn't call inc no 

the matter rrith your face?". 

Q You said a minute ago she addressed. you ao Sharks 

nothing like that She 0144 nihat lo the ia.tte' w 

lady friend Iciosed I 

q And just then aonteb04y Van Oiot. 

ot3a9r people run into thea.06112 



Then I,hat did you do9 A I was there about half an 
• ; 

Then I v/a3ked up in the house. 

Q Your own house? A Yes, sir. I live right on the 

Q, I understand you 

of yours? A friend of mine? 

about Charles Shapiro? 

d friend ofQ, How long had. Charles Sjapiro been  

yours? A Mine? About a Year and a half. 

Q, You were intimate with him, weren't you? A That 

You were a close friend 

And the best of terms existed, between you and hi 

was the last person in, the world. whom you 

to be shot? A Certainly. 

arry Salkinc? A Certainly.. 

in the world. you wanted. to see 

er the 411.00ti323 MS over 

the =loon to too what Lappened 



Charles Shapiro. I didn't take no attention to it. 

You knew they had been Well  I heard someb0 

got shot, but I didn't know who got shot. 

No, nothing like that. 

out they were shot? A When 

sitting up in my house and two detectives came up and 

took ide to the hospital , and he sai 

is Harry Salkinu. 

Q Never mind_ the conversation. 

time when you say you first heard that Harry •Salkin and Charles 

Shapiro were shot, and you say that was about eleven o'clock; 

not know who was shot? 

Q, Because ± assvme that, had you 

was shot and that Charles Shapiro was silo'. 

out, to see what was the matter with that), ..,rouldn't you? 

m. ROSEVBERG: Objected to as speculative'. 

THE COURT:. The objection is suataiined.. 

row, the shooting was right in front or that sal 

A Well , X di dn t say that. 

right 611 the 

q And iou stayed 

t-right. there.? A 

loon a an 140141. 



You said. so before. A After the ShOl 

Q Yes A Certainly.... 

q pid you say ',After the shooting match"? 

Q What do you mean by that?A I was in 

When I heard a couple of shots coming off, rtñ 

You were in. the saloon When: you head ..aicOUple 

A I heard comirg off a few shOts. and I ran...intothe aaloo 

and I was there about half an hOtir, 

Q what .were you doing there? A .They 'were all talk 

this fellow got shot, and that fellow got shot. 

Q You heard .who got shot? A I heard about 

ting shot, but I didn't know who got shot. 

Q' Didn't you hear in the Saloon?' 

fellow got shot, but tAy :mention no naMet. 

Q Do you mean to say you stayed in that .salCOn half 

hour without knowing' who was shot? 

Because people kept going in and co 

q So, you must have known that somebody was shot? A 

And .you heard people mention who was  shot? 

q You did not ask, did you? 

q Prom that saloon, you went 



Q Now, did you stay in the saloon because you were afraid? 

Afraid? 

q Yes. A I didn't want to take no, attention, 

all Cut UP, and I was excited myself. 

Q What were you excited about?, You had been had•been cut 

many hours before? 

And this was after seven!? A. I was handitged and 

-didn t take no attention to it 

Q When you came out of the saloon, before you got. Up 

o your house, you had to pass inlIp the atreet didn't you? 

,4 Yes, sir. 

'Didn't you hear there that.aa rill an jp4 ro had boen 

but they didn'tsmention no names* 

q You told us before thatkou remembered that Salkit 

and Shapiro -? A memb er? 

Remember, not member. Dntltihat frighten you. You 

tola us before that you heard Salkin and Shapiro right near you 

on that cornerw —.Now, that is so, iøn't it? A The were 

right there certainly. 

(4, .YOu saw them there? A I happened to see thera,.ye. 

q And you saw them at the tame that the shooting 

occurred? A No, f just spoke to. this girl the girl; met; 



simple quelstion• At the time the .sho 
- 

them standing in the gutter, right a that corner 

I didn't see the shots coming, but I heard the shots 

Q, were they near by oz. far away? 

tried to shoot anybody, and I heard 

11, I..never 

f shots coming 

Q You wei'e. afraid they were ,coming in your direction, 

otherwise you would not have run7 A I thought they were 

going to shoot me again, 

Q You were afraid the shots were coming in the direction 

And that was the direction where Harry alkin and Charles 

Shapiro were standing? A No, they were on the other side, 

(1 They were only a few feet away :from you? 

q So. the shots came not onlY in tha't direction 

shots came also in the direction: of Charles ShaPiro.and Harry 



Certainly. 

• Q, Because you were afraid that the-shotb were coming 

your direction? A Certainly. 

And that was also the direction that Charles Shapiro an 

Harry Saikin were? 

Nowli then, after you had run t-o- safty, in the saloon, 

didntt you make' any inquiries whatever t 

Salkin and Charles Shapiro had been sh 

didn't take no attention3. I just:run n the 

It did not concern you ? 

Q, You were not interested') 

You, had no reason to suspect 

Q Even though they were right near yr u_w 

my own trouble that night 

Q, That was the only trouble you had? 

Q But weren't you worried about your 

Q You didn't give them the  least thought? 



And you are certain. you 

until eleven o'clock, that they were 

you heard about ft? Yes, sire 

4- Wasn't it a little unusual ft 

It is not often that yousbay 

it A Certainly not 

You stayed* in the saloon half an hour? 

Went -right up to  your house? A Y 

Didn't•  lose a. minute getting to your ho 

a minute 

in your house 

Y9u didn't talk about the 

*You went right up to yourlady friend 

Q You stayed in your hous for three hours? 

Q You did not take your lady friend out? 

Q Though you had an appointment,yith her? 



She was just visiting you. 

Had she heard anything about the shooting? A •go. 
_ 41 Did. you discuss the shooting With her 

know out that. 

Q Did you talk with her about the shooting? 

spoke to- me about the .c on my face. 

Q Not a word was said about the sho..oting. 

Ncktè. question asked by yoli a. 

said, 1'$-cm fellow got shot on. the corner 

That is all you knew about it? A 

And that is all you said about it? 
tPit Q, And those are the only-questions you asked anyb 

Yes, sir. 

BY VEt. ROSENBERG: 

Have you ever bee 

BY 11R. 11MALIE: 

Q, You were sent by Magistrate. Barlow t 

• on a charge of disorderly conduct?.. A ..Never. 

Q, • Weren't youi? -A -Yes) I got ninety days. 

You got. ninety days? A yes, Piro. 

Q• rot disorderly. conduct? A Yes. sir. 

Q And you just got through Serving the ninety days 

in the Workhouse? A No, I have been waiting for trial 

Y 

Q You have not serVed• Tour ninety days yet? A 1Text 

Monday my ninety days are up. 
' 
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But you were sentenced to ninetY days in the Workhouse? 

AYes, sir. 

Q, By  City Magistrate? A Barlow. 

RE-DIRECT VcAmINATION BY mt. ROSEITB GT. ; 

- Q That was growing out ofla-rol 

MR. MRDALIE: That is a oonclusion. 

• Q. 

What were you convicted of by.Magistrate Barlow? 

MR. MEDALIE: 'He said it was for *J7bIr disorderly conduct 

was it for something that happened Sunday, the 8th 

A Yes, sir. 

Tell the jury why you got ninety days from Xudge Barlem 

• 
on December 8th? -

MR. MCEDALP: I want ,to say, your Honor that I shall 

have the right, of course, to go into that, as 8Op a.8 

counsel gets through getting his client's explanation. 

A On Sunday, December 8th, I was sitting on .a chair, at 

Broome and Orchard Street, taking a shine,about one o'clock; 

had to go to work; so four fellows come over tome, and one fell 

says, "Come here, I want to talk to you" .says, "You want to 

talk to me?" I said, "wait until I gtt tilrough with AY 

shine", So I got through my shine, and I got off 'the. 

chair; and the first thing he said was, "What are you talking 

about me bad for?" I said "me? - I ain't got nothing to talk 

about you, or anything like that". le 'said, "Yes, you did; 
v 

you' are going around telling everybodY1 I a. bad _fellow-, 

t.7.17MBO 



ahead and prove it"; and he struck me.Wer 

he struck me, I struck him back again,, and four of them attack.-

ed. me, and the first. thing I Was 

and he grabbed-  the other 

locked up", because he was there at the ti 

he was with them; and I got cut. That is all. 

Q Did you get te ninety days for hitting the mn with 

Did you have anything 

Q For hitting the man with your 

• I told the cop - •thp offider to have 

• bleeding; I was exetited, and I •struck 

Q And was the officer there whe 

;the name of that 

and a policeman was there, 

"Rave this fellow 

rrze en this happened; 

Q That is what you got the 

the ninety _days because I struck him and that is why told. 

the cop to have him arrested, and I struck him because -I .knew 

Were you ever convicted 
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'CZ Were -you ever convicted of a feiOny? A io, sir, this 

is the first time I am arrested. 

RE-cRoSS-ECAMIN.ATION BY MR. 11EDALIE: 

You told, the Magistrate your story? sir. 

Q And the policeman told the Magistrate his story A Yee. 

trate found you guilty, did he-4? A. 

Q, And sent you to th,e Workhouse 

Q. You alsO told the MagiStrate abku get ing• cut,' 

certainly. 

Q And a,fter the 'Magistrate heard you tell all about that 

he nevertheless found you guilty, didn't hp'? A What 114-- t? 

Q Found you guilty, even though you told him about your 

being cut?-, A He give Me ninety days.. 

Q You told him ylur whole story? A yes, sir0 

d not believe you? 

MRI. ROSENBERG: Objected to« 

TI COPRT: The objection is sustained. 

BY THE, COURLD: 

this young woman at  the time that you -heard the shooting? 



nather, on the easterly side of Orchard Street? 

Q. Going from Grand Street;  is that right? A Not 

'Grand Street. Prom 7th Street. 

-1"ram Seventh Street., doWn?.A Yes. 

Q Is it on the-same side where  you lived'? A ye 

How far away from you were the Shapiroe and Salkin? 

A They vere away about nine or.tei feet. 

the sidewalk, and they were out, in the middle 

Jubt on the corner, about ten feet away.' 

Did you hear Gus Sander say you were 

the 'ground? 

(I Did you hear anybody make an outcry when 



talking to? 

14 

4 Harry Shap_iro? A Yes- yes,sir. 

Q., Was he facing you at the time he was shot? A No; nove 

Q Did. you '4,41k ,to Shapiro or to Salkin that night A. 
- 

idn, speak to them at all. 

A 1 passed them 

Q Did you see them? I. certainly did. 

Q What were they doing? A ..Tuet in a circle abou 

three or four standing there • 114 one another. 

BY MR. ROSNBERG: 

Do you know who at young 'woman •rs• whom y u were 

A I can recognize her at isee t h 

Do you know where she lives A She Must be around 

Broome Street or Orchard Street;.,---am not positive. 

Did you ask people to find OUt who that  woman wa ? 

was trying to find out every day in the week and trying to get 

this girl, but I can't get her, and :I. don t know *ht became of 

her. 

Q You have been in the City Prison since December 8th4  

Yes sir. 

Q Up .o and including the present time? A 93 days in 

the Tombs now. 

R. ROSENBERG: That is all. 

.... . 



art? 

MR ROSENBER : I offer to prove by the office that, 

the afternoon of Sunday December 8th, this defendant was 

cut, his .face bleeding; and. a police office was present; 

that, while the police officer was present,. e stuck 

a man by the name of Bielsky, with his fist; the police 

officer arrested the defendant and Bi,elsky, and thereupon, 

on the trial before Magistrate Barlow, the defendant was 

cOnvicted, and, got 90 days for that assault. 

MEDALIE: . I will concede that the defendant Via El 

charged with disorderly conduct, committed .'in the presence 

of Officer Rothchild, and that h Was convicte 

MR. _ROSENBERG: And :that it consisted of. .asuit? 

MR. MED&GrET Yes. 

MR. •ROSENBERG:, With his hand? 

MR. MEDALIE: I am unable to say, but it as an assault 

which the Magistrate trEated as disorderly Conduct, and f_or 

which he sentenced the defendant to 90 a s in.the Work 

MR. ROSENBERG; - The defendant renews the motion..  

at the close of the People's cape  and asks that  0401 an 

all, of the grounds stated therein be enumerated  as if 

fully set foYth here, and  n the  additional .ground, that 
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the People have failed to establish the commission of 

the, crime Charged in the indictment .3.7 either of the trimes 

charged in the indictment,beyond a. reasonable doubt* The 

People have failed to establish the corpus dello i of tie 

criine 'charged in the indictment. 

THE COURT: ..,The motion is denied. • 

MR. ROSEtIBERG: I take- an exception. 

(Mr. Rosenberg then sums up the case to the jury on-

- behalf of the defendant). 

(Mr. Medalie then sums up the  case to the jury 94; 

THE COURT: I shall charge  the jury tomorrow morning. 

Gentlemen of the jury, do not discuss this .Case among 

yourselves nor permit any person to.talk to you about I. 

nor form nor express any opinion as to the guilt or the 

innocence of the defendant, until' the 'case is. finally 

submitted to you. 

(The Court accordingly took a recess until 'tomorrow, 

Thursday, March 6th,. 1913  at 10:30 A M 



the4first count _in the indictments 

crime of assault in the first degr 

the defendant i 

s charged with the 

and in the second 

count of the indictment he is charged with the crime of 

iassault in the second degree.. 

to infer that a person is guilty of the-crine charged . 

therein4 An indictmenti therefore gs no evidence or 

guilt, but is a mere accusation in Writing, charging a 

person with a crime. 

Under our system of law, there re two methode by 

which the guilt of a person is established.. The firs 

method is by a, defendant pleading guilty to an indict. 

o an indiotr. 

nent it is iiot• necessary to take any proof in ordet to 

establish his guilt. The second method is by a jury 

convicting a person of the crime charged against hi 
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Whenever a defendant enters a plea a not guilty 

indictment, an issue of fact 4..a 'raised which must 

in this case to determine from the proOf8 presented b3 

the District Attorney 'whether or not the% defendant is 
—7Ite 

guilty of the crime charged, against him. 

questions of 

Neither counsel for the defence nor 

trict Attorney nor the Court .can advise you how you 

should act upon the evidence. That 'power is left t 

you, and to you alone. As the sole judges of :the facts, 

it is Your duty to weigh tie facts. 

You must not be influenced by pathy or prejuie 

dice, but you must be neutral and impartial. It ie 

the evidence, and after a careial ana3.ysiis of the evi-

dence'it is for you, and you alone, to say What impres-

sion. the proofs submitted on both sides.make upon your 

It is the duty' of the JU 

likewiise I it is the duty of the Jury .to accept his 

instructions as to the law. 

Your have no right to question the Correctness of 

law as declared by the Court, but you lautst accept 



have that are'' not founded on the evidence you must 
• 

miss from your minds. It 4 s your duty to weigh the 

evidence, and deteriadne only from. the evidence whether 

The Jury in weighing the-tevi-, ',dence should take into 

consideration the interest and the motive of the witness 

in giving his testimony. Is he a truth-tellin 

-Is he favorable to the defense, or :to the 'People? 

is he -hostile to the defense or to the People? 

the witness had opportunity to observe the event con-

cerning Which he has testified? Is he aniaated by 

a desire other than to tell the truth? So, there-

f  in weighing the testimony of a witness, you have 

a right to t a,ke int o- con si derat ion his demeano'r, 

merit and manner in giving testimony 

fully weighing the evidence of the witness t.,." it i 

you to say whether or not the witnesi3 tipresses 

one whose testimony should be given 

grelat powers in analyzing and in weighing testimony. 

If you believe that any witness has wilfully tee' 

t ifi ed falsely in any  material particular, you are 

auth rized, but not bound to disregard the entire 

testimony of such witness. You may accept all of -a. 
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witness 'a testimony as trite r you may reject .it al 

as untrue.,. You may credit t 

discredit it in- other par s' as 'untrue. 

and credit you will attach to the testimony 

ness rests entirely with you. 

jurors must, however, remember that when they enter 

the jury box they must lay aside an persona prejudice 

in weighing the evidence, and determine solely from 'what 

the witnesses state whether they will believe them, 

not. 

It is your duty, therefore, to exercise your di 

criminating judgment, vritb, a view to finding, if yoU: 

can, from a.witness's testimony, whether or not he 

told the truth, and if he had then it rests 

what weight you shall give to his testimony. 

In a criminal case, it is important for a juror not 

to be moved by any consideration of what will 

verdict of a Jury. In other werdS -7014:1114.71P.11.0thin 

to do with what punishment the COurt migb.t .impose in 

the event of your finding a defend=guilty.... Your, 

duty simply is to try the facts, and decide whether 

person committed the crime, if in fact he did commit the 

crime. Met is the responsibility which 

a jury. 



their duty, •whilevthey ar 

diet, o give careful ccnsideration to the views an 

'capriciously or arbitrarily stop his ears and stubbornly 

but before you make up your verdict each  juror, without 

• reference to the other jurors, should be satisfied it 

his ()in mind Of the guilt'or-the innocence of-the 

defendant. 

It is the .duty of each juror to reason with his 

fellow jurors., with an honest desire to arrive at the 

• truth, and with a view to arriving at a verdict, either 

for the People Or for the defendant, if the facts an 

circumstances of the case so justify. 

It should be the object of jurors to arrive at a 

conclusion; and to that end to deliberate together with 

It is your duty-to agree upon a Verdict, if 

the.t is possible, without a-violation or any coteciet-

You have heard both the District AttOrney and 

CoUneel for the defendant make certain statements an 

present arguments and reasons to you: So 'far as the 



District Attorney_ s concern. d the defendant ihouid 1?.e 

convicted-.-- So far as the Counsel for the deenda3atit 

if a legitimate arguMent-be made uponthe evidence, 
and 

such statements .argitmerrts should be given careful 
s 

weight and conLd_erattin by the Airy, but 8tate 

ments , comments and arguments , or reasons or 

ments which are of a personal nature, should 

no vreitht or consideration by  you, 

The aim in a cause -of- this kind is -to.ai 

the truth from the evidence, and., therefore, 

your arguments must be based upon the proofs presenteit, 

and no extraneous considerations should withdraw your 

attention from an honest, careful consideration of. tbs 

Jurors must appreciate that while they serve as 

such they are a part of the machinery of justice, .and, 

the aim.should be uppermost in the mind of every man 

called upon to determine an issue involving the libert 

of a human being to do justice. An unfair trial. 

would be a reproach to the administration of 



The 'btat e' has no ridit to demanc 
_ 

the proofs bSyoricVa reasonable doubt 

simply _seeks the truth; and if the 3.ati has be:en 

lated., the jury should perform its dirty fearlessly, 

honetatlf,,a,nd conscientiously. 
- 

Now entlemen, this is the beginning of the term.. 

Many of you gentlemen have had. no --experience in the 

trial of criminal cases., so I haves therefore, brief1S* 

outlined to you the duties which the law imposes upon 

You must understand that in weighing evidence' 

as well as Judges, might make mistakes; but that 

mistakes will occur in our Airy system is a thing that 

.neither you nor I can prevent, but we should never 

fear to perform our duty if- we believe cOnOcientioys-* 

ly that he prolzabilities of the carat: indicp.t'e beyond 

a reasonable doubt the guilt 0,f a person charged with 

You are not called upon to find to. a matheMat 

certainty that a man is guilty of a crime. You 

called upon to consider the possibilities of 

cular case, or vhether, you. might Make a lista* 



you are to consider the prdbabilities 

wh-eth-br,or not the People have establish 

mathematical certainty, and in our. criminal Courts 

you are not called upon to establish the 

called upon to establish :the guilt of a person beyond 

'ft;rary be proVed-by.youryardiat and he is entitled to 

the benefit ofevery reasonable, doubt arising 

Now, reasonable doubt is not aguess Or a conjecture 

or a surmise, nor must resort be ad to invtking 

the performance Of a disagreeable *duty. A, reasonable 

doubt ('not a guess or a conjecture or a surmise, but 

it is such a doubt as reasonable men *ay enteAain aft r 

a careful and honest review and consideration of the 



evidence and find 'a defenda.n 

with the crime of assault in. the first decrees Assault 

in the first degree is defined under our*Statute'as fol-

"A person who, ..with intent to kill a human beings 

"assaults another with a loaded firearm or any other 

"produce death, is guilty of assault in the first degree 

• Under the second count of the, indictment assauat 

in the second degree is defined as follows: 

"A person who wilfully and wro 

"another by the e of .a weapon or other instrument 

"thing likely to produce grievbus bodily ha= is .tlty 

"of assault in the second degree". 

Under the count cb.argina the crime of aasauLt 1*. 

the first degree, it is neoesuary to prove 

that, if the, del' oxidant eb.ot ilarry Silkint it discharge-4 

a loaded revolver, a deadly weapon.' It is ffneyoll 

say whether it is a deadly vieapon Wed, it $itt 

or not be tthot alkin with the 

If he did, and thoCe fac 



.a reasonable. dotibt ,  you Will be warranted in firn 

the defendant guilty of assault in the first. degree. 

- Under the second count of the indictMent, it wi.3.1 

'necessary for you to find beyond a reasonable doubt 

that the defendant wilfully and wrongfully assaulted 

Salkin by the use of a weapon or other instrument likely 

to produce grievous bodily harm, and it is claimed that 

the injuries which Salkin sustained consisted of two 

bullet wounds produced by the discharge of a revolver 

ukrelimmo-414-esitetreee, the bullets of which penetrated his 

Now, the People in this case have not .produced any-

eye-witness who actually saw .the defendant, Ostranskyl 

discharge a loaded fire arm at the complaining witnese, 

the bullets of which entered his body d the People, 

therefore, rely upon circumstantial evidence to estab-

Under the law of .this Statà circumstantial' 41Ti den° io 

regarded and aacepted by our Courts as legal evidenoe, 

competent, as evidence upon Irthich a jury my Lot. 

Whatever micb.t be the iprcsoicn of any ember. at 

thiz Tury with relation to the efficacy Of eircuststan.tiai 

iovi once you must ley it COI i t 
to make a true diverrnoi in tht case betwea 4' 

People -awl this defeadant tsza 1t it, Vcur 4 



Your power i 

presented for your consideration are strong enought 

point in the defendant's direction as the person who 

shot Salkin. Your power is simply 

weighing the evidence. 

No juror has a -right to say "I will not accept 

circumstantial evidence". You must consider circum-

stantial evidence. Your power is ted. to weigh-'

an d to det ermine .therefrom .w.heth er the 

circumstances are sufficient. in your judgment to estab-

lish the guilt of the defendant 

Now, how did The People establish the 

They established it by witn 

have been called and sworn, and. who have given 

mony as to the circumstances observed by them. 

While you are to consider the circumstantial evi 

dence, you must bear in.:Ai:rut 'that witnesses have te 

tilled to the circuntjmceø1 ettd, therefore, you aunt 

determine Izthother the %Aimee es lithe have testifie4 1111 

o the ciretristeneen IWO told the truth, or ithether 

they have rilfully facifiedter tenti*ony1 or 

they o biscO 0 ri-tuken *s .t 



the exclusion of every- other reasonable 

proof of cir,cumetantes::.must not only .b 

guilt, but inconsistent with innocence. 

cumstantial evidence be susceptible of two constructions, 

the most favorable to the innocence of the defendant 

should be adopted, but if the circumstantial evidence 

points in one direction, and in one direction only, 

,—namely, the guilt of the defendant,or if the circum-

stantial evi dence be Inconel st ent with every reasonable 

hypothesis of the innocence of the defendant , and con 

• eistent only with his guilt, you are bound as jurors to' 

regard this evidence as controlling, and to be guided 

I shall read to you, from the case of The 

'against Harris, what the Court of Appeals has said on 

the subject of circumstantial evidence: 

"All evidence is  in .a a.1. t sense,, more or 3.eis.' 

whether cOnsiSting in facts vthich perm 

"the inference of gUiltt br..hetb iTen by the 

"witness of the occuZrOncesi tsr.the testimony of 

',eye witaescco'is, of course 

"core or less Clictinotly and directly obserirsi 

*course tbiere to a differtioes betwerr evident:It cOnsist 

'ins In facto of a pectriVa• nature, and hello 



"rise to presumpt i , and evidence *hie 

consisting in the positive testimony of eye witnesse 

and the difference is material, according to the de 

"stances and the credibility of the witnesses. The 

"mind may be reluctant to conclude upon the issue of 

"guilt in criminal cases upon _evidence which As not 

"direct, ana yet wheri,the facts ,brought out, when 

"taken together, all point in the one direction of guilt 

"and to the exclusion of any other hypothesis, 

His' no substantial reason for that reluctance, ,Purely 

"Circumstantial evidence may be even more satisfactory 

and a. safer font of evidence, for it must rest upon 

"facts to prove the truth of the charge made and must 

"collectively tend to establish the guilt of the etc.* 

A fact has the Sense of and is equi*alen't 

"to the truth or that which is real 

"ingenious combination of facts that they can be made 

"to decieve or to express what is not the•trttth. in 

'the evidence of eye witnesses to prove-facts of an 

• "ocdurrence, we are not guaranteed. against iietake, 

•"falsohood or the distortion of truth, b7 the ezggeratio* 

"of prejudice, but when we al$0 dealing with a number 

"of establiab.ed facto; it upon *rranging, exaining 4: 

them in our lard WO teada .j concltzeic* 
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"01' guilt tlixie judent rests :supon.:14, lara: as: :stabStano, 

ntial. and si?up.d as though resting upon 

"of eye- witnesses, 
,74 

"circumstantial evide 

the testimony 

The necessity of a resort to 1. 

c'* in criminal cases is apparent 

"in the nature of things, for the criminal: act .is 

"to be performed in secrecy 

sou t 

and an intended evil.,7dcer 

"chooses his time and action when most favorable to  

"concealment, and sedulously schemes to render detecti 

"impossible. All that we -should require of oi*-

"cumptantial evidence is that .there shall be positive 

"proof of the facts from WI CU the inferenos 

• "is to be drawn, and that that inference is the on 

"one which can reasonably be drawn from these facts. 

It would, therefore, gentlem be injurious t 

the best interests of society if circumstantial evidence 

could not avail in judicial proceedings.• If it were 

necessary sways to have positive, direct evidence, 

how many criminal acts cormitted"in a great community 

like outs would result in criminals going unwhipped 

of justice. Such miscarriages of Justice would 

destroy the peace order and security of the citi*erni 

of this community. 

The neoesity, therefore, otresorting tb oircumi* 

etantial evidence if it is safe and rellabl 

obvious Ond soy gentlrten, in this case you stu.st d.eterft 

;40.1-----amseimumaz 
e - 



direction of this defendant as the man who did the  shoot-

ing. If the combination of circumstances 

the defendant as the man, who shot Salida, it is for you 

to say whether or not you will accept this evidence 

act accordingly. 

If the circumstances are Susceptible, of two co 

structions; one set suggesting innocence end the other 

set suggesting guilt, it is your duty to adopt the set 

of _circumstances/that favor innocence because the lEmr 

presumes every person to be innocent. 

It is, gentlemen, necessary in a Case of area*. 

stantial evidence not to wei one circumstance that 

mi ght indicate innocence, two circumst anc es-. that might 

indicate innocence, three circumStances that might, 

indicate innocence, but it 

all of the circumstwaces, and to determine whether the 

combination of circumstances point to. innocence 

If the circumstanceS lead. you away from this defem-

dant as the person who shot Sal/rd.*, acquit hi but if 

the circumstances lead. you to the 'del'endant as the 

person who ehot Salkin it is for you to say gestkoseelt 

whether you will act upon the evidence. 

You are to consider the preofs presenteitb both 



the circumstances Whether or .not dèfendatt•was. the 
_ 1 ' 

t person on the night of December 8th, - that discharged a 

loaded fire arm at 'Makin. and whether in 

intended to take the life of :Saki 

Salkin , int ending to inflict • gri evous 

his intention to inflict 

person of dalkin? 

Reference has been made by the learned Counsel 

, representing the defendant to the fact that the People r_ 

have established no motive against this. defendant that 

should have rtempted him to indulge in the Criminal sae 

On the other hand, The People claim thatthere 

a mbti've that moved and tempted. the • defendant to shoot 

a'motive for al cases. There is 'usually' a Motive 

for every voluntary act of a ratiOnta being WhiCh 

operates as an inducemitnt to the °Omission of Crime. 

One may kill another to  obtain a small amount of 

money. One may kill another because of jealousy or 

hatred or to gratify some supposed or  real injUry, 

The motive, therefore  mar not 0:ways be die looked 



the very moment when the crime is committed. 

Now, gentlemen, there is a vast difference between 

People against  Molineanx, judge Werner said:. 

"In the popular inind intent and motive are not 

"infrequently regarded as one and the same 'thing. 

"the law there is a clear distinction between •them, 

"Motive is the moving power which impels; to action for 

the purpose to :use 

"a particular means to effect such result. When a 

"crime is Clearly proved to have been committed by 

"person charged therewith, the question of motive may 

"be of little or no importance, but criminal intent 

"is always an essential element to the commission of 

Motive is an inducement o that which leads and 
...! . 
P . sz 

tempts the mind to indulge in the criminal act.' ;t is 

resorted to as -a. means of arriving at an ultimate fact; 

not for the purpose of explaining the reason of a 

criminal act which has-bean clearly proved, but for the 

'important aid it may render in completing the proof of 

the commission of the aot when it might otherwise remain 



n doubt. :With motive in any speculative ,sente. you 

-have, nothing to do. In a cast Of circumstantial 

the question of motiVe often becomes not 

facts from which it  may be 

Motive cannot be imagined, 

circumstance in the case. 

to the aCats d in any case 

b:e. preyed.. 

any more than any other  

The. motive '&ttributed 

must. have ..p.Ome legal anc 

logical relation to the criminal act, according to the 

'mown rules and principles of human conduct. If it 

has not such relation, or if it points to 

as well at in the other, it cannot lie cons•idered & 

legitizag_e-,cpart of the  'proof, and as bearing upon the 
4 - 

question of intent-) 
motive, or absence of motive, 

present considerations of he utmost impOrtanee. 

Intent may be inferred from motive clearly established., 

and, :conversely, absence of motive even if not 

conclusive may be considered as pertinent to the 

question of intent, where intent is an issue and the 
e 

question of intent in this case is in issue. 

.was assaulted the defendant was engaged in conversation 

with a young woman who inquired of him the cause o 

his being bandaged, and he replied that his girl had. 

kissed him; whereupon Salkin and the brother of 



Chalbs Shapiro, Who is a witness, turned. anr 

*Charles Shapiro did not change his position. 

laughed at the remark, arid Charles Shapiro also 

in the presence of this defendant 

That some time elapse ,Rne Witness saying 

about two or three minutes, and' when tested .s to 

the time, he said about eight and 'one-half seconds, 

after which three shots were fired in succesSion, 

, two bullets entering the body of Salkin, and 

bullets striking Charles Shapiro. 

Salkin testified that he was a friend of the 

had no grievance against hit, and that he had none 

It is your duty, gentlemen, to:. weigh all of th.e 

evidence, and to determine how much of what the witnesses 

have said you will believe and how much you will di 

bell eves 

Had Salkin or Shapiro any enemy Did some person 

have a motive to shoot Salkin, 

person? Was the defendant piqued ,t the conduct of 

Salkin and Shapiro beoautie of their laughter at the 

statement made by-him to  this 

tendant feel resetitiftd because of .the conduct of SalKin 

in turning about and laughing at the _statement made by 



him? And did the ,deferida.n 

tion at the conduct of 'Salkin shoot him 

other words, did this defendant have a motive t 

You are to consider the defendant 

in life. What might' move one ma.n. might not move 

Therefore, as I have said to you, 

there is no rule of lea., as regards the adequaoy of 

say., from all of the evi dence the closeness to vaich 

Salkin was to this defendant rwhat transpired in the 

presence of the defendant, and what innediately followed 

when Salkin turned about and laughed. 

Gentlemen, upon you, and you alone, rests; the re-. 

our law, cannot express any opinion as to the guilt or t 

innocence of the defendant. He has no right to express 

any opinion as to the guilt or the innocence of the 

You must not give any special consideration to the 

questions that the Coutt put to the witnesses., nor are 

you to  give special consideration to the facts which. 
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-a the _evidence and all questions ,of fact-. are 'le 

for your considera.ti on.. 

Now, :there -is some evidence here -that .171km the 
ANNUMMIlla 

shots were fired this defendant •ran. 

gard a person's flight from two o 

You  are .to Te-

nt s. Aan 

might run and his running, instead of showing evidence 

of guilt, might show upen investi 

ju'stific-ation for his hi ght • 

f a purply innocent act an 

a guilty act. 

If the defendant's running that fl t. was 

tion, that there was 

:A. pan may run because' 

a man migh 

fear occasioned, by a person shooting 

run ,because 

due to   

Sali and such 

person was one other than the defendan, 

justified; the defendant hail a rir, 

• t t was 

run. No man 

danger. 

e Shapiro! says 

to run when the 

ought to be compelled to place himself in 

One of the witnesses for the defer). 

that this defendant was the first pers on 

shots were fired; that the other persons 'yore running, 

not away from the scene of the shooting but towards the 

scene of shooting* 

A with ess for the defense  Sander, states thEct 

ran, and that while' runningl he saw the -defendant 

talking to this girl, and that he was a.lf w feet 0.1.1 

don't remember the number of feet,either six and one-

half or seven feet awaY roil' the three peraorp3 at the 



time the shotS were fired; that there were several 

people running. 

Did this  defendant run because some other pers 

or did this defendant run because 

that lib had done some wrong, in order' to escape 

You must deterinine from the .circuns tnces of the 

case, after hearing what all  of the .witnesses have said, 

what moved and tempted the defendant to run away. 

he ran because, some other person discharged a..revolver 

at Salkin, of course his running is indicative of innoi.= 

but if this defendant ran after he- .shot Sand, 

had in running away. 

"explained., it tends to show a corrSciOtzsze s 

"ti on thereof. When the cause is provc. bu 

"of the person is in doUlot, it  beam somewhat 

"tion of identity.:Ordinarily it is oftill 

"and of none whatever unless' there 

"tiOn thich the oused offers _should. ,alvitays be consider 



, 

'‘••••• • • 

5 "and wei 

• 

,2 

d by the Jury in connection with thedefendant 

"fl eein ge 

Of course gentlemen, as I have said, 

find out what were the real occurrences that 

that night. Where do _the facti read 

lead you, towards this defendant, 

away from him? 

y u are .to 

took place, 

Do the 

r do they lead yo 

• 
Is there anything in this case o show that Salkin 

had an enemy who had designs upon him to do him injury? 

Bear in mind the 'Wine and the place and the occasion 

d the circumatances under which Salkin was shot, and 

deteriaine. from all of the circumstances whether or not 

on a reasonttsblet the People have established his guilt

doubt. 

If so, you will be warranted in convicting him of 

 be 

the crime of assault in the first degree; ,d if -you 

have a reasonable doubt as to his guilt of the 

assault, in the first degree, and no reasonable 

his guilt of the crime of assault in the second degr 

criMe of 

doUbt, Of 

you will convict IAA of assault 'in the second degree. 

If you have a. reasonable doubt. as t 

either on the case made 64 by The People, 

case, or upon the whole case, it belongs t 

will be your duty to acquit him. 

Any requests or exceptions? 

his guilt, 

or on his•oval 

d it 

„ 

-e 



• 

ROSENBEI3.G: Your  Honor, except to thatpart 

of your Honor's charge Orirather, 

charge that the defend= 

required to prove that Sakin had any enemi 
•rr 

• of ,what your Honor told the Jury. 

'no COURT: I so charge. 

NR. ROSENBERG: I except to that portion of your 

Honor's charge wherein you qUote from the case of The 

People again st Harris fully on the subject• of circum-

stantial evidence, and I except to your HOnor sub-

mitting that quotation to the Jury without proof of 

the facts in the Harris case to show the applicabilit 

of that statement of the law to the real facts. in the 

Harris case. I ask your Honor to charge the facts, 

or to tell the Jury what' the fao.ts were in the Harris 

case, so that they may understand what the Court of 

Appa als said in respect to circumstantial 

being good evidence and proper evidence under the facts 

in that case. 

THE COURT: The Court deo ines to comply with 

Counsel's request, and ti urt again reminds the jury, 

and has reminded the Jury, tha he Airy must find that 

the circumstances point in the direction of the defen-

dant  to the exclusion of every other hypothesis. 

Jury must be satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt tha 

- 

• A 

.11116A-T 



facts and circumstances have been proved Ivhich 

permit the inference that the defendant 1.13 the person 

who comm.itted the crime. 

Wt. ROMBERG: except 

Honor's charge wherein you states 

stances that no juror can say 1 

o that' portion ofs your 

n words or An sub 
S. 

will not accept .circuraw. 

st anti al evidence. You must accept circumstantial 

evidence". I except to that part 

THE COURT: Y ti are giving onl 

Court's instructions. 

31.M. •ROMBERG: That was after your lion= 

THE COURT: * recollection is 'clear. I 

s the duty of the jury to accept oi roumst anti al evidence* 

They havd no right to question its but upon them 

the duty of weighing and ccnsidering the circumstances. 

Whethe r the ci rcumst anc les are suggici ant 

determine. 

R. ROMBERG: I except to that portion of your ' 

Honor's, charge as corrected by your Honor 

Honor may understand to what the exception relates. 

THE COURT: Of cours-ei the jury understands the 

Court did not say the jury must accept this.• evidence and 

convict the defendant. That is you cen It arbitrarily 
fr 

throw. circumstantial _evidence You must take the 



• evidenee weigh scrutinize it , analy'ze it, and.. 

determine whether the circumstances are sufficient in 

your judgment to -establish the charge laid. in the indict-

ment' against the defendant. 

ROSENBERG: I except to that portion of your 

Honor's charge wherein you state  in_words or in sub-

stance, was the defendant piqued at Salkints smiling, 

or Salkin or Shapiro smiling, and. did be 

ment at that? Wha,t mieit bnmotive for one 

would not be a motive for another„„upon the ground that 

that suggests an 'argument to the Jury prejudicial to 

the defen3ant. Iexcept to that portion of your 

Honor's charge - r, rather, I ask your Honor to ciiarge 

the Jury, in view of what you, did say concerning the 

questi on of flight, that if the defendant has explained, 

to their satisfaction that his flight was consistent 

with his innocence, that therefore the presumption con" 

or the inference concerning which your Honor 

directed the J:uror's attention to absolutely ±s 4es 

troyed, and that the stativent f the defendant must be 

TEE COUH: If the Jury believe the defendant's 

testimony; I said. any explanation made by the defendant 

must, therefore, be taken into cOnsideration by.the 'Amy 



believe--that the defendant ran away from the scene 

shooting under, the circumstances narrated by him; 

course there is nothing to indicate that the flight waft 

due to any .consciousness of wrong doing on his part.-

MR. ask your Honor to. charge the 

jury that if, after reviewing the evidence, their minds 

are in a state of uncertainty, that then it is their 

bounded and sworn duty to Acquit the defendant. 

THE COURT: I so charge 

(The jury then retired, at n:42 A 

• (The jury return at 12:56 P. 

THE CLERK OF 'THE COURT: Gentlemen 

have you agreed upon a verdict? 

you find. the defendant at the,bar builty• 

'DTP, FORMAN OF THE JURY: Guilty of assAult in the 

THEOLW OP THE COURT: Harken- unto your verdict 

as it stands recorded You say you- find, the defendant 

guilty of assault in the second degree and so you all 



earancee 

IN; H. L. EDVARDS i Esq.," Assistant . District At'40r40, 

For- The People.' 

K. _HENRY  ROSENBERG, Feq 1 

For the Defendant. 

CLERK OF THE COURT: Max Oitrans 

you now to say why judgment Should not be pfbnounced 

against; you according to lam ? 

MR-. ROSENBERG: - The defendant Moves to set aide 

the verdict, and for a new ki trial, upon all the 

grounds stated in the Code of Criminal _Procedure. 

(Motion denied, exception.) 

THE COURT: This act of the defendant, In szooti.rig 

the complaining witness, was /done in cold blood. It 

was a wilful, conscious and. deliberate shooting, 

in my judgment, he is entit1Sd to no sympathy whatsoever. 

.I thinks that the administratio0 of Justice ought to 

pursue this man, in order that he be kept out of harm's 



Way for the Vongest time possible. 

rise on. the East Side as Tack Zelig 

will hear your motion. 

MR. ROSB)3RG: The defendant moves to set 'aside 

the verdict and for a new trial, upon the ground that 

the verdict is contrary to law, contrary to the evi-

and hearsay evidence, and rejected evi-dencelto, which, ex  -

elusion and rejection the defendant •duly excepted; be-

cause the Court erred in denying the defendant's motion 

People's.case, and. renewed again at the close of the 

whole case, to which denial the defendant duly excepted. 

Because the Court misdirected the Xury on matters of 
, . 

law, and refused to charge the jury as requested by 

• defendant's counsel, to which refusal and denial the 

endernt duly excepted. 

The defendant moves in arrest • of judgment 

.errors apparent upon the face of the record. 

(Motion denied; exception.). 

MR. ROSENBERG: I don't think, your Honor, that 

the defendant had any such desire to become ,the successor 

of Sack Zelig; in fact, ,he was working as a _peddlers 

His people are here; they are outside. 

HE COURT: Well, 1hi .defendant certainly ha 



borne an excellent reputation to within about a year of 

this shooting. I am told he is the leader of a gang 

-,7o-v-i3r,on the East Side, and that. people fear him over-

tilere; that he makes it a practise of holding up 

Saloon keepers and. stand keepers. A reign of terror 

has prevailed over on the East Side while this man was 

permitted to mingle in decent „soot etre 
• 

I 

State prison not less Olin two years and. six months 

nor more than four years and five months, de-

fendant is fined one thousand.- dollars n default of 

the payment of the five, he is to stand, committed one 

day for each dollar until the fine 

MR. ROSENBERG:Your Honor will grant us a stay. 

of a week ? There is another case pending, 
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